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March 22, 2018

To the Oakland County Board of Commissioners and
Citizens of Oakland County

State law requires all general purpose local governments publish, within six months of the close
of each fiscal year, a complete set of financial statements presented in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and audited in accordance with generally accepted
auditing standards (GAAS) by a firm of licensed certified public accountants. Pursuant to those
requirements, we hereby issue the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) of Oakland
County, Michigan for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2017.

This report consists of management’s representations concerning the finances of Oakland
County. Consequently, management assumes full responsibility for the completeness and
reliability of the financial information presented in this report. To provide a reasonable basis for
making these representations, the management of Oakland County has established a
comprehensive internal control framework designed to protect the government’s assets from loss,
theft or misuse and to compile sufficient and reliable information for the preparation of Oakland
County’s financial statements in conformity with GAAP. Because the cost of internal controls
should not outweigh their benefits, Oakland County’s comprehensive framework of internal
controls has been designed to provide reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance that the
financial statements are free from material misstatement. As management, we assert to the best
of our knowledge and belief, this financial report is complete and reliable in all material respects.

Oakland County’s financial statements have been audited by Plante & Moran, PLLC, a firm of
licensed certified public accountants. The goal of the independent audit was to provide
reasonable assurance that the financial statements of Oakland County for the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2017 are free of material misstatement. The independent audit involved
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements; assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management; and evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. The
independent auditor concluded, based upon the audit, that there was a reasonable basis for
rendering an unmodified opinion that Oakland County’s financial statements for the fiscal year
ended September 30, 2017 are fairly presented in conformity with GAAP. The independent
auditor’s report is presented in the financial section of this report.

The independent audit of the financial statements of Oakland County was part of a broader,
federally mandated “Single Audit” designed to meet the special needs of federal grantor
agencies. The standards governing Single Audit engagements require the independent auditor to
report not only on the fair presentation of the financial statements, but also on the audited
government’s internal controls and compliance with legal requirements, with special emphasis
on internal controls and legal requirements involving the administration of federal awards.
Those reports are available in Oakland County’s separately issued Single Audit Report.
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The Fiscal Year 2017 CAFR includes a Statement of Net Position and a Statement of Activities,
which provide readers with the financial position of Oakland County, viewed as a single entity.
In addition, the report provides a narrative introduction, overview and analysis to accompany the
basic financial statements in the form of the Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A).
Oakland County’s MD&A, which provides a detailed discussion of the County’s fiscal year 2017
financial performance, can be found immediately following the report of the independent
auditors. This letter of transmittal is designed to complement the MD&A and should be read in
conjunction with it.

Profile of Oakland County

Incorporated on March 28, 1820, Oakland County covers approximately 910 square miles in
southeast Michigan, immediately north of the City of Detroit and Wayne County. With a
population of 1,242,304 (2015 estimate) and the County seat in Pontiac, Oakland County is
home to a mix of urban and rural communities, encompassing 62 cities, villages and townships,
including thirty-two (32) downtown areas and many scenic natural settings, providing a good
quality of life for any lifestyle. Measuring per capita income, the County ranks as the ninth (9™)
wealthiest county in the nation among counties with populations between 900,000 and 1,600,000
as cited in a May 2016 report by University of Michigan economists. Oakland County enjoys a
world class reputation due to its renowned business environment and its many attributes that
contribute to an excellent quality of life.

Government Structure

Oakland County operates under the authority of Michigan Public Act 139 of 1973, the Optional
Unified Form of County Government Act, approved by the electorate in 1974. An elected
County Executive is responsible for the management of County affairs as specified under Public
Act 139. Specific programs and services under the County Executive include human services in
the form of public health, child care, and homeland security; community and economic
development; planning; public safety; public records; public works; airports; and a wide range of
other services, such as Michigan State University Cooperative Extension, animal control, work
force development, veterans’ services and senior programs. All of these activities are supported
by administrative services, central services and information technology.

The Treasurer, Clerk/Register of Deeds, Prosecutor, and Sheriff are offices established by the
State’s constitution. A Water Resources Commissioner was established as an elected position in
1909 and currently operates under Public Act 40 of 1956 (as amended), the Uniform Drain Code.
These offices, including the County Executive, are elected countywide with four-year terms.
The Treasurer is responsible for collection of delinquent taxes, settlements with local units, cash
management and investments. The Clerk/Register of Deeds is responsible for recording vital
statistics, maintaining court records, Board of Commissioner proceedings, and documents
affecting property ownership. The Sheriff and Prosecutor are responsible for law enforcement.
The Water Resources Commissioner is responsible for construction and maintenance of drains,
lake level controls, water supply systems and sewer interceptors.
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The Oakland County Courts consist of the Sixth Judicial Circuit (including Family Division),
Probate and 52nd District Courts. The Circuit Court, with nineteen (19) judges, has jurisdiction
over criminal cases where the minimum penalty is over one year of incarceration, civil damage
cases where the claim exceeds $25,000, and domestic relation matters. The Probate Court, with
four (4) judges, is responsible for estates and mental health matters. The 52nd District Court,
with ten (10) judges, has jurisdiction over misdemeanors, ordinance and charter violations, civil
cases under $25,000, and preliminary examinations in felony cases.

The Board of Commissioners is comprised of twenty-one (21) members elected to two-year
terms by their respective districts and serves as the legislative body responsible for establishing
policy and appropriating funds.

Component Units

A three-member Road Commission, established under Michigan Public Act 283 of 1909 and
appointed by the County’s Board of Commissioners, is responsible for more than 2,700 miles of
roads. Its budget of more than $129.1 million (excluding Assessment Districts) is funded
principally by State-collected vehicle fuel and registration taxes under Public Act 51 of 1951.
Other sources of funds are provided by federal and local governments. The Road Commission is
not subject to the Board of Commissioners’ appropriation process and, therefore, is reflected as a
discretely presented component unit in the County’s CAFR, as required by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement Number 14, The Financial Reporting Entity, as
amended by Statement Number 39, Determining Whether Certain Organizations are Component
Units, Statement Number 61, The Financial Reporting Entity: Omnibus, and Statement Number
80, Blended Requirements for Certain Component Units.

A three-member Drain Board was established pursuant to Michigan Public Act 40 of 1956, and
consists of the Oakland County Water Resources Commissioner, the Chairperson of the County
Board of Commissioners, and the Chairperson of the County Board of Commissioners’ Finance
Committee. This board is responsible for the construction and maintenance of drainage districts
created under Chapter 20 of Act 40, funding for which is provided by assessments against the
benefiting municipalities. Debt issued is backed by the full faith and credit of Oakland County.

A ten-member commission, appointed by the Board of Commissioners, is responsible for Parks
and Recreation, which acquires and develops County parks. Currently, Parks and Recreation
maintains and operates thirteen (13) parks that provide camping, golf, swimming and a variety of
other recreational activities. Parks and Recreation is supported, in part, by a separately voted %-
mill tax levy, subject to annual tax limitation adjustments pursuant to the Michigan constitution.
Parks and Recreation’s activity is blended into the County’s CAFR due to the specific agency
relationship established by State statute, as required by GASB Statements Number 14, Number
39, Number 61, and Number 80.
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County Budget

Oakland County maintains a focus on long-term financial planning. As described below, the
County operates under a three-year rolling budget, which allows for continuous planning at least
three fiscal years into the future. Such a process allows the County to anticipate financial
challenges and take appropriate timely management action in response to major budgetary
fluctuations.

Under the provisions of the State of Michigan’s Uniform Budget Act for Local Units of
Government (P.A. 621 of 1978 as amended by P.A. 493 of 2000), the Triennial Budget and
General Appropriations Act (GAA) serves as the foundation for Oakland County’s financial
planning and control; this covers the County’s fiscal year of October 1 through September 30.
The County Executive is required to submit a proposed budget and recommended GAA to the
Board of Commissioners no later than 90 days prior to the beginning of the next fiscal year (July
1). The Board of Commissioners is required to hold public hearings on the proposed budget and
adopt the final budget and GAA for the ensuing fiscal year no later than September 30, the close
of the current fiscal year.

The appropriated budget is prepared by fund (e.g., General Fund), function (e.g., Administration
of Justice), and department (e.g., Circuit Court). Control categories are established at the
department level for Personnel Expenditures (e.g., salaries, overtime, and fringe benefits),
Operating Expenditures (e.g., contractual services and commodities), and Internal Support
Expenditures (e.g., Internal Service charges for information technology, motor pool, office
space, etc.). Departments may exceed individual line item appropriations (e.g., professional
services, office supplies, etc.) within the aforementioned categories provided the Control
Category is not overspent. Budget amendments providing additional spending authorization are
required to be made by action of the Board of Commissioners, upon recommendation of the
County Executive.

It is important to note that, although the appropriated budget is prepared on the
fund/function/department basis, Oakland County’s financial system also has the ability to budget
and account by program cost center. The ability to budget and account for County activity by
program is a valuable tool for policy makers to analyze and determine where to appropriate
limited County resources in order to maximize their positive impact on County residents.

Budget-to-actual comparisons are provided in the Financial Section of this report for each
individual governmental fund for which an appropriated annual budget has been adopted.
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Economic Condition of Oakland County

Oakland County is recognized as one of the most prosperous counties in the nation. Oakland
County’s economy is continuing to improve since the days of the “Great Recession.” Oakland
County is now in its eighth year of economic recovery since the recession’s low point at the end
of 2009. With the economic recovery there has been job growth. From 2010 through 2016, the
number of jobs in Oakland County increased by approximately 110,400 with four in nine of the
new jobs created during that period being in the higher-wage industries. Over the period of 2009
to 2016, the County’s job growth rate of 18.0% greatly outpaced both the nation’s growth rate of
9.9% and the state’s growth rate of 11.8%. In their April 2017 report, University of Michigan
economists estimated an additional 16,475 jobs were created in 2016. Further, it is projected that
an additional 44,300 jobs will be created in the County over the three-year forecast period of
2017-2019, a pace averaging 2% per year. The higher-wage and middle-wage industries make
up over three-quarters of the net new jobs anticipated over the three-year forecast period.

Due to its educated work force, Oakland County is well positioned to continue its transformation
to the evolving knowledge-based and information-based economy. Approximately 56.0% of all
County residents hold a degree from an institute of higher education. Oakland County has been
investing for years in many of the industries that are prominent in the New Economy. Innovative
programs such as Automation Alley, Emerging Sectors, Medical Main Street, and Tech248
continue to identify industries and businesses that are projected to have increasing employment
opportunities, particularly those associated with professional and business services, health
services, and the technological evolution of the vehicle industry.

Oakland County’s unemployment rate has fallen (improved) steadily from the 2009 high rate of
13.0%. Oakland County’s 2017 average unemployment rate was 3.5%. This rate is lower than
the State of Michigan rate of 4.5% and the national rate of 4.4%.

Enhanced by the County’s investment in dynamic economic development programs, Oakland
County remains an ideal location for business. Since its creation in 2004 through the most recent
report issued in January 2018, the Emerging Sectors program has had 484 business successes and
has attracted about $4.6 billion in investment, creating approximately 48,200 jobs and retaining
33,400 jobs. The most successful sectors in terms of total investment are health care/life science
at $1.2 billion, advanced electronics at $824.6 million, and IT/Communications at $811.4
million. Additionally, Oakland County has about 1,100 global firms from 39 countries with
foreign direct investment over the past four years topping more than $1.1 billion as international
companies continue to boost Oakland’s economy. In 2017, Oakland County had a record amount
of total new investment of $1.2 billion, of which $305.0 million was related to foreign direct
investment.

Oakland County’s 2016 per capita personal income (PCPI) of $65,759 is the highest among
Michigan’s 83 counties according to the U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis (BEA) most recent
published data on November 16, 2017. The 2016 PCPI reflects an increase of 2.6 percent from
2015. Oakland County’s per capita income also compares favorably to the national average
($49,246) and the state average ($44,253).
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The 2017 market value of property in Oakland County is approximately $138.0 billion, an
increase of approximately $7.9 billion from 2016 to 2017 (6.06%). The State Taxable Value
(STV), which is the calculation on which property tax revenue is based, increased 3.67%. This is
the fifth year of increase in property value following five (5) consecutive years of decline and is
further evidence that Oakland County’s economy is on the rebound. Current budget assumptions
include a 5.0% increase in taxable value as of December 31, 2017 (FY 2018 revenue); a 5.0%
increase in taxable value as of December 31, 2018 (FY 2019 revenue); and an additional 4.5%
increase in taxable value as of December 31, 2019 (FY 2020 revenue).

Oakland County’s collective property values remain the highest of all 83 counties in Michigan,
and represent 16.3% of the state’s total value (even though Oakland County’s population
represents approximately 12.5% of Michigan’s total). The majority of Oakland County’s taxable
value is within the residential class of property, which is approximately 74.2% of the total
property tax base. The average residential sale price of a home in Oakland County increased
from $232,835 in 2016 to $245,677 in 2017, a 5.5% increase.

The average 2017 property tax rate is $43.14 per thousand dollars of taxable value, an increase
from the 2016 average of $41.85 per thousand dollars of taxable value. The average property tax
rate is distributed to the following taxing authorities:

Local School Districts 33.91%
Cities, Villages, Townships 29.81%
State Education Tax 13.91%
County Operating 9.37%
Intermediate School District 7.67%
Community College 3.60%
Parks & Recreation/Zoo/Art/Huron Clinton 1.73%

100.00%

The County continues to exercise a prudent and conservative approach to tax revenues by
controlling the millage rate levied on the tax base. In fact, the County millage rate for the July 1,
2015 property tax levy was reduced from 4.19 mills to 4.09 mills (out of an authorized levy of
4.2168 mills) for operations, one of the lowest county tax rates in the State of Michigan. Further,
the millage rate effective with the July 1, 2016 tax levy was reduced from 4.09 mills to 4.04
mills. The millage rate for the July 1, 2017 tax levy remained at 4.04 mills (out of a maximum
authorized levy of 4.1457 mills) and is expected to remain at 4.04 mills for the July 1, 2018 tax
levy.

Fiscal Policies

Oakland County has established a number of financial policies to ensure that the business of the
County is conducted in an effective and efficient manner. Some of these policies, such as those
related to Debt Administration and Cash Management, affect the daily financial operations and
thus the financial statements. The impact of these policies is demonstrated in the financial
statements themselves as well as the notes accompanying the financial statements, particularly
Note #3 (Cash Management) and Note #8 (Debt Administration).



County of Oakland
Letter of Transmittal

Other policies and practices are not as fully explained in other parts of the ensuing document yet
they equally impact the County’s financial position in FY 2017 and beyond and, therefore, some
discussion of these policies is appropriate. Among these policies and practices meriting fuller
discussion are the Budgeting and Forecasting activities; the capital improvement activities
particularly associated with the Delinquent Tax Revolving Fund; and the innovative Pension and
Other Postemployment Benefit practices.

Budgeting and Forecasting

A primary reason for Oakland County’s solid financial position is the fact that County elected
officials and administration continuously engage in long-term financial planning. Financial
policies have been implemented to support practices that focus on how decisions made today will
affect the County’s financial position in years to come. The County Executive, based on
recommendations from his Budget Task Force and finance team, keeps constant focus on the
County’s financial position in making all budgeting and fiscal decisions.

The hallmark of the County’s focus on long-term financial planning is preparation and adoption
of a triennial budget and five-year forecast. Not only is the budget adopted for the next three
fiscal years, the triennial budget is considered a “rolling” budget in that when it is amended, the
amendment always reflects the impact for both the remainder of the current fiscal year and the
impact on the entire next two fiscal years. The mantra adopted by the County Administration is
“thoughtful management” not “crisis management.”

The development and use of the triennial budget allows the County to maintain financial
stability. Oakland County understands, however, that sound financial management actually
begins with maintaining a solid financial position. The first financial question Oakland County
officials ask is not “how do we balance the budget,” but “where do we want to be financially in
the next five years?”” County officials first set a long-term goal of a solid financial position and
“work backwards” to develop a budget which will achieve that goal.

Oakland County’s sustainable long-term goal is to maintain a General Fund balance equating to
approximately 20% of annual General Fund / General Purpose expenditures. This figure is
calculated based upon two criteria. The first criterion is the Government Finance Officers’
Association (GFOA) recommendation to retain at least two months of annual expenditures
(approximately 17%) in fund balance. In fact, the County adopted Miscellaneous Resolution
#15175 on July 16, 2015 to formally codify the fund balance policy for the General Fund. This
has been a highly recognized and proven best practice that has been instrumental to Oakland
County’s long-term financial sustainability. Such practice provides a cushion against unexpected
crises, allowing the County to meet emergency demands without severely disrupting ongoing
operations and services.
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The second criterion is the need for additional cash flow reserves arising from Michigan Public
Act 357 of 2004 that requires the County to collect property taxes in arrears. Under this State
Act, counties levy property taxes in July of each calendar year, which is ten months AFTER the
beginning of Oakland County’s fiscal year. Prior to enacting P.A. 357, the County levied
property taxes in December only three months after the beginning of the fiscal year. Because of
the prudent management of the General Fund balance, the County has been able to maintain its

cash flow needs, despite the shift to a later levy date. However, the County will continue to
monitor its cash flow needs and will take appropriate actions if short-term borrowing is needed
to augment General Fund cash balances.

In accordance with P.A. 139 of 1973, the County Executive is required to report the current
financial position of the County to the Board of Commissioners on a quarterly basis. These
quarterly reports are prepared by the Fiscal Services Division of the Department of Management
and Budget and presented to the Board of Commissioners’ Finance Committee. The County
Executive has traditionally exceeded this requirement by not only reporting the current financial
position of the County each quarter, but has also provided a quarterly forecast of the projected
financial condition of the County at the close of the current fiscal year. These reports include a
comparison of the amended budget to the forecasted amounts and explanations for major
variances. Any recommended budget amendments are presented at that time and individual
departments may be called to appear before the Finance Committee during this process. This
process means the budget remains current throughout the year and that actual expenditures are
continually monitored, compared to the budget, and reported to the Board of Commissioners.
The quarterly forecast documents as well as monthly budget to actual reports are posted on the
County’s website.

The County further maintains a strong position control and position budgeting system and
adheres to the practice of budgeting for full employment. Salary and fringe benefit
appropriations are tied to specific authorized positions. Should vacancies occur or if positions
are filled at a level lower than authorized, the resulting favorable variance falls to fund balance.

The result of these practices is a balanced line item County budget (adopted by the Board of
Commissioners in September 2017) for fiscal years 2018, 2019, and 2020. The County also
prepares a high-level five-year forecast and fiscal plan document in its ongoing effort of
“thoughtful management” practices. Considering the status of the County’s finances as of
September 30, 2017, as well as its longer-term focus, the County anticipates a balanced budget
through FY 2022 without additional budget tasks or reductions.

Capital Improvement Program and the Delinquent Tax Revolving Fund — Fiscal
Responsibility Plan

The Delinquent Tax Revolving Fund (DTRF) was established in 1974 to help stabilize local
revenues by paying the local taxing units 100% of their respective shares of delinquent ad
valorem real property taxes in anticipation of the collection of those taxes by the County
Treasurer. The County funds the DTRF by borrowing money and issuing revolving fund notes.
Payment of the notes is made from the proceeds of delinquent tax collections. State law provides
that once the notes are paid in full, any surplus in the fund may be transferred to the County
General Fund by appropriate action of the Board of Commissioners. Oakland County's DTRF
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has consistently provided its local units of government with a stable revenue stream while also
generating a surplus. Responsible use of this surplus is the purpose of the Fiscal Responsibility
Plan. The Fiscal Responsibility Plan, contained in the annual GAA, provides clear guidance
regarding the conditions and functions for which surplus DTRF funds may be used.

The law demands the purpose of the DTRF not be jeopardized, which purpose is to regularly pay
local taxing units within the County 100% of their respective share of delinquent ad valorem real
property taxes prior to the collection of those taxes by the County Treasurer. The policy
therefore, is to maintain a sufficient corpus in the DTRF to meet this primary purpose and only
then to prudently utilize any surplus in excess of this baseline amount.

Oakland County’s Fiscal Responsibility Plan directs that any appropriations from unrestricted
DTRF funds, except penalties and investment interest, are limited to one-time and/or limited
purpose expenditures. Further, the use of these funds for one-time and/or limited purpose
expenditures requires a minimum two-thirds approval by the Board of Commissioners. As a
result of Oakland County's DTRF utilization policy, the corpus of the DTRF continues to be
available not only to protect the revenue stream for the local units of government but also to
generate interest earnings that, prudently managed, can be utilized in lieu of new taxes as a
funding source for necessary capital projects.

The net position in the DTRF as of September 30, 2017, was approximately $197.4 million.
While slightly below the target equity of $200.0 million, the DTRF is still well positioned to
guarantee timely payments to local units of government and to pay outstanding notes on
delinquent taxes. The County has leveraged available unrestricted assets by using the DTRF to
cover debt service on certain major Board-approved capital projects that house essential public
services. There are three major building projects that were initiated in the early 2000s where
debt service of approximately $4.7 million annually is being covered by the DTRF. The debt on
two of these projects will be paid in full by the end of FY 2022 with the third project to be paid
in full by the end of FY 2024, thus freeing up approximately $2.8 million to support new debt
beginning in FY 2023 and another $1.9 million starting in FY 2025. Additionally, in November
2015 the County issued debt of approximately $15.5 million to construct the Oakland County
Animal Shelter and Pet Adoption Center. The General Fund has already covered the debt service
for the first seven years by transferring $7.0 million in FY 2016 from the General Fund to a
separate debt service fund. With the animal shelter facility operational as of October 2017, the
former shelter property is on the market with the proceeds from the eventual sale to be placed in
the animal shelter debt service fund to even further extend the debt service coverage. While the
initial plan was to have the DTRF cover the animal shelter debt after the $7.0 million was
expended, the County is now planning to transfer another $1.7 million in FY 2018 from the
General Fund to the animal shelter debt service fund based on one-time surplus funds realized in
November 2017 for State reimbursement of personal property tax losses. It is not expected that
the DTRF will need to cover the animal control facility debt service until late 2025, and more
likely a few years after that once the former animal shelter site is sold and proceeds are placed in
the animal shelter debt service fund.
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Even using the DTRF to support these capital initiatives, the fund’s net position is still more than
sufficient to meet all the fund commitments. As a result, the County has used a portion of the
DTRF equity (the amount higher than required to meet funding commitments) to support
General Fund / General Purpose operations. Historically, prudent stewardship of the Fund has
enabled the County to draw annually from the DTRF to support General Fund / General Purpose
operations. The five-year forecast anticipates the continuation of annual transfers from the DTRF
to support General Fund / General Purpose operations in the amount of $6.0 million annually for
FY 2018 through FY 2022.

Pension and Other Postemployment Benefits

Realizing that employees are both its most valuable resource and that employee compensation
and benefits are one of the largest expenses, Oakland County established two pension plans. The
first plan is the Defined Benefit Pension Program, referred to as the County’s Public Employees’
Retirement System (PERS). The second plan is the Defined Contribution Pension Program,
referred to as the Oakland Performance Retirement System (OPRS), which qualifies under
Internal Revenue Code Section 401(a).

Individuals employed on or before July 1, 1994 had a choice to belong either to the PERS or the
OPRS. All eligible individuals employed since July 1, 1994 were enrolled in the OPRS.

Due to the voluntary shifting of 1,126 employees from the PERS to OPRS, and the fact that all
newly hired employees participate in the OPRS, the OPRS has resulted in a savings of
approximately $145.1 million since inception of the program without jeopardizing the retirement
security of valued employees.

Oakland County has also been a true innovator and leader in exploring methods to providing and
financing Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB). Specifically, the County has implemented
benefit changes that will limit the growth of the cost of these benefits in the future, while still
providing employees with a method to retain health care insurance once they leave County
service. Rather than receiving a specific level of healthcare insurance when they retire from
County service, employees hired after January 1, 2006 are enrolled in a “Retirement Health
Savings Plan” (RHS). Under the RHS, for non-represented employees and most represented
employees, the County contributes $1,950 annually ($75 per pay) to each employee’s retirement
health savings account ($3,250 annually for those bargaining units bound by state law to binding
arbitration). Upon leaving County service, the employee is entitled to the vested funds the
County contributed based upon their length of service. In 2014, the Board of Commissioners
approved Miscellaneous Resolution #14005 that provided a one-time window which allowed
certain eligible employees to voluntarily and irrevocably convert from the defined benefit VEBA
Plan to the defined contribution RHS Plan. The “buy out” provided a lump-sum deposit
equivalent to $2,000 per year for each year of eligible service. The result was that 83 employees
opted out of the VEBA Plan with approximately $2.1 million being set aside in individual RHS
Plan accounts for these employees. It is estimated that the ratio of savings is approximately 5:1;
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meaning for every $1 provided for the one-time voluntarily conversion, $5 in savings is
anticipated in present value liabilities. The resolution also lowered the longevity requirements
for the graduated vesting schedule with the RHS Plan. The previous vesting schedule allowed
for a partial benefit (60%) provided after 15 years of service with full benefit provided after 25
years of service. The revised vesting schedule allows for partial vesting after 6 years of
employment with employees becoming fully vested in the RHS Plan after 10 years of County
service. Once the employee separates employment and receives the vested cash benefit, the
County’s financial obligations ends.

Employees hired prior to January 1, 2006, qualify for participation in the County’s Voluntary
Employees’ Benefit Association (VEBA). The VEBA is an irrevocable trust fund; assets from
this fund can only be used to pay retiree healthcare cost. Although this is an increasingly popular
vehicle to support retiree health care, Oakland County has gone one significant step further — it
has fully funded its OPEB obligation.

In July 2007 the County issued $557.0 million in Trust Certificates of Participation (COPs).
COPs are taxable debt, which were issued over a period of 20 years at a 6.23% interest rate.
Subsequent to the issuance of the 2007 COPs, new legislation was adopted by the State of
Michigan (Public Act 329 effective October 9, 2012) that allowed local units of government to
issue limited taxable general obligation bond to fund OPEB obligations. On September 27,
2013, Oakland County issued private placement debt of $350.0 million in securities and used
$72.1 million from available assets in the Interim Retiree Medical Care Benefits Trust (IRMBT)
and VEBA in order to refinance the outstanding $422.1 million 2007 COPs debt. The $350.0
million in securities were sold in two series; $316.0 million was placed with Bank of
America/Merrill Lynch, which was chosen as the Senior Underwriter in a competitive bid
process, and $34.0 million was placed with the County Treasurer as part of the County’s
investment portfolio which previously held a portion of the COPs. The refinancing reduced the
annual debt interest rate from 6.23% to an all-inclusive interest rate of 3.80% over the remaining
life of the debt with the obligation to be paid in full by April 2027. As a result, the annual debt
service payment is reduced by an average of $13.2 million per year and provides gross
cumulative savings of $171.1 million. This refinancing not only saved the County taxpayers
money, but also established a superseding plan to secure health care for all eligible County
retirees and employees, and their covered dependents, to the end of their eligibility. As of
September 30, 2016, the last actuary report issued as of this writing, the VEBA fund assets were
123% of the fund’s actuarially determined liabilities.

A more detailed discussion of Oakland County’s pension and VEBA performance may be found
in Notes #12, 13, 14 and 21 to the financial statements.

County governments have faced a number of financial challenges over the past several years.
However, because of its long-term financial planning, prudent management of capital projects,
the use of alternative funding sources, sound cash and investment management policies, and
solid pension and postemployment benefit planning along with the efforts of elected officials and
employees, Oakland County has met the challenges. It is in a position to ensure the long-term
fiscal stability of Oakland County government and preserve its ability to provide necessary
public services to its citizens.
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Major Initiatives

Even through the most fiscally challenging years spanning the recent Great Recession, Oakland
County government continued to provide the services expected by its citizens, supported its local
cities, villages and townships, and worked with the private sector to revitalize the local economy
— all while still balancing a multi-year budget and maintaining a healthy fund balance. This was
accomplished through the combined efforts of Oakland County’s elected officials,
administrators, and employees who realize that their job is to keep providing necessary services
in perpetuity, not just for a short period of time. Oakland County’s focus has always been on
long-term sustainability.

Oakland County’s operational model is based upon “thoughtful management” not “crisis
management.” By recognizing problems in advance and making necessary adjustments BEFORE
the problems fully manifest themselves, the County Government was able to survive the “Great
Recession” without layoffs or massive reductions in services. Even though the fiscal condition
has improved, County elected officials and administrators continue to be mindful of potential
problem areas and stand ready to implement any necessary changes so that services can be
maintained at optimum levels.

In order to maintain quality citizen services, Oakland County officials realize that they must
maintain an effective, professional workforce. After salary reductions of 2.5% in FY 2010 and
1.5% in FY 2011 coupled with no salary increase in FY 2012 and FY 2013, the County provided
modest annual general salary increases beginning in FY 2014 ranging from 2% to 3%.
However, Oakland County’s employee general salary increases have been conservative and have
lagged in comparison to the private sector. As the economy continues to improve, the County
faces challenges of not only recruiting new talent, but retaining existing employees.

To recruit and retain quality staff requires a number of items including a safe work environment,
effective and efficient tools to perform duties, advancement opportunities, and an appropriate
compensation package, both in terms of salaries and benefits. That said, the funding for
compensation comes from the taxpayers and a balance must be established between finding the
resources to attract quality staff and meeting the expectation of the taxpayers. The County
continues to engage in this balancing act, to the benefit of all parties.

To partially address recruitment and retention concerns, there was a 3% salary increase for FY
2018 with budgetary placeholders, for the time being, for a 1% salary increase in FY 2019 and
another 1% salary increase for FY 2020. In addition to salary increases, over the past couple of
years the County has made improvements to tuition reimbursement and RHS Plan contribution
programs as well as implemented a six-week paid parental leave program and a voluntary once a
year annual leave buy-back program (limited to between 20 and 40 hours). Further, the County
reinstated the $300 employer match for the 457(b) Deferred Compensation plan in FY 2016 and
increased the employer match from $300 to $500 in FY 2017.
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With over a third of the County workforce eligible to retire, the County continues to look for
ways to further build and sustain the County workforce. County Departments are actively
engaging in succession planning efforts in order to identify future leaders and retain institutional
knowledge. Primarily, efforts have been initiated within individual departments to identify the
future leaders, as well as identify training needs and other actions which can assist these
individuals’ development.

In 2017 the County created a Talent Management Advisory Team (TMAT) to help strategize and
make recommendations for recruiting and retaining a qualified and engaged workforce. An
employee opinion survey was conducted to gather insight into how employees feel about the
work environment, why they chose Oakland County as an employer and what might make them
want to leave employment. Also, all departments were asked to nominate employees from
diverse backgrounds, creating a 36-member team. The TMAT met periodically over a six-
month period to brainstorm ideas such as marketing the County, communications with
employees, creating a diverse and inclusive workforce, and developing recruitment and retention
strategies. The TMAT reviewed the survey results as well as the ideas from the various focus
group sessions with formal recommendations to be made in 2018. Additionally, in late 2017, the
County Human Resources Department retained a consulting firm to conduct a job compensation
study and update to the Salary Administration Plan for all non-union classifications. This study
will analyze market competiveness and is expected to be completed in 2018.

Healthcare benefits are another important factor in this balancing act. The County has been able
to constrain its overall healthcare costs, including the cost of retiree health care. Much of the
success in managing costs is due to the County’s employee wellness program, OakFit. The
mission of the OakFit program is to assist employees, retirees and dependents in taking
ownership of their health and wellness in order to improve quality of life, enhance productivity,
and stabilize long-term employee/employer healthcare costs. OakFit offers a multitude of
programs such as health screenings and other innovative programs to assist in embracing healthy
lifestyle behaviors. OakFit continues to be an effective program to manage healthcare costs and
enhance employee quality of life. Since its inception back in 2007, the OakFit program has also
garnered numerous awards and recognition for its focus to improve overall health of the
employees while saving taxpayers millions in healthcare costs.

With the improving economic conditions and restoration of revenue sharing payments from the
State of Michigan in FY 2015, the County has moved from a maintenance mode toward a
reinvesting and rebuilding mode for continued long-term sustainability. For FY 2016 and FY
2017, the County transferred $5.5 million per year to its Building Improvement Fund, and the
long-term budget includes the continuation of the $5.5 million annual appropriation for facility
needs. In FY 2016 the County issued debt of approximately $15.5 million to construct a new
animal shelter facility on the main County campus. The new Oakland County Animal Shelter
and Pet Adoption Center opened in October 2017. This 35,400 square-foot modern and state-of-
the-art facility enhances the shelter’s mission to adopt out as many dogs and cats as it can. With
the new facility moving from Auburn Hills to our main County campus in Pontiac, pet adoptions
are expected to increase given the more accessible central location. As previously noted, the
former animal shelter site property is up for sale and will return the property to the tax rolls once
sold.
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The County has also taken measures to address ongoing security initiatives, major technology
replacement and improvement projects, and infrastructure projects. This includes the
replacement of the legacy 911 copper network to a regional Emergency Services Internet-
protocol Network (ESINet) for the Next Generation 911. This latest technology allows 911 calls
to be routed using geographic information system coordinates and will allow callers to use
wireless devices to transmit photographs, videos, in-car crash system data, and text messages.
Other technology initiatives underway include the replacement of the County’s imaging and
document management system and the replacement of the analog telephone system to a universal
communication system that will transform the way employees communicate and collaborate with
each other as well as with the public. Additional project implementations expected to start within
the next year include the replacement of the Human Capital Management and Financial
Management systems, replacement of the Radio Communications system, the Virtual Desktop
Infrastructure project, the Identity and Access Management project, and the Network Operations
Center Monitoring project.

Regional collaboration is no stranger to Oakland County. The County continues to be a leader in
efforts to share government resources through intergovernmental cooperative programs. The
County’s Courts and Law Enforcement Management Information System (CLEMIS) program is
a premier example of regional collaboration with over 200 public safety agencies across
Southeast Michigan. Also, many local communities contract with Oakland County for services
such as road patrol, police and fire dispatch services, real property assessing and personal
property appraisals, animal control, information technology services, water and sewer services,
and collection of delinquent taxes.

The County’s Department of Information Technology and Corporation Counsel worked to
develop the G2G (“government to government”) Marketplace. Since its inception in 2014, the
G2G Marketplace offers participating jurisdictions a way to evaluate and procure enterprise
technology solutions and professional services. Participants can access pre-negotiated contracts
with guaranteed best pricing and terms for tested, successful solutions, a best practice library,
and other resources that help reduce overall costs. Within the past four years there are now 81
municipalities in Michigan that are part of the G2G Marketplace. Additionally, 750 entities from
around the world are utilizing this resource with the G2G Marketplace having generated over
417,000 transactions approximating $300.0 million in business system wide. This is just another
example of how Oakland County is leading the way in helping governments of all sizes. For
more information about the G2G Marketplace, please go to www.G2GMarket.com.

The Department of Information Technology has accumulated numerous awards over the years
and has made Oakland County one of the most digitally advanced counties in the country. This
includes national recognition for Oakland County’s cybersecurity programs. In 2017, the Center
for Digital Government bestowed its Cybersecurity Leadership and Innovation Award upon the
County’s Information Security Program. The program has delivered projects in governance,
formalized program documentation, technical solutions, incident response, asset management,
data management and improved patching process time. The program has a team dedicated to
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monitoring and responding to issues and offers the CySAFE self-assessment template and
advisory assistance to all U.S. counties. Also of special note, Deputy County Executive/Chief
Information Officer Phil Bertolini was recognized as one of GOVERNING’s Public Officials of
the Year for 2017. GOVERNING selects only a handful of officials each year in recognition of
outstanding leaders in state and local government who exemplify the ideals of public service.

As noted in the accompanying financial statements, Oakland County’s General Fund balance
totaled $264.8 million as of September 30, 2017. This level of fund balance equates to 58.2% of
budgeted fiscal year 2018 General Fund/General Purpose expenditures. However, of that amount
$33.1 million is assigned to balance the fiscal year 2018 budget, $31.7 million is assigned to
balance the fiscal year 2019 budget; and $26.2 million is assigned to balance the fiscal year 2020
budget. When the above assignments are removed, the General Fund balance still stands at
$173.8 million or 38.2% of General Fund/General Purpose expenditures.

The County leadership takes great pride in being good stewards of the financial resources
available to the County. As a result of the County’s ability to maintain financial stability while
providing key services to its constituents, the County was able to reduce the County’s tax rate by
.10 mills from 4.19 mills to 4.09 mills for the July 2015 tax levy and was able to further reduce
the millage rate by .05 mills for the July 2016 tax levy to bring the millage rate to 4.04 mills.
The County has a longstanding tradition of maintaining a millage rate that is below the maximum
authorized rate. The 4.04 millage rate is below the current maximum authorized rate of 4.1457 as
allowed by the State Constitution. Until 2015, the maximum authorized millage rate had not
changed for 10 years, primarily as a result of suppressed property values. With the recent
rebound in property values, a roll-back to the maximum authorized millage rate has been
required for the past three years. The County will continue to monitor the impacts of the
Headlee Constitutional Tax Limitation Amendment of 1978 and the Proposal A Property Tax
Limitation Amendment of 1994 in order to foresee potential constraints on future millage rates.
The County’s diligent long-term financial planning efforts are key to the continued success of
providing quality services to the citizens.

Awards and Acknowledgements

The financial community has acknowledged the County’s solid tax base and financial policies in
recent years. The County earned the highest bond rating achievable, AAA, from Standard and
Poor’s and Moody’s Investor Services, Incorporated. In a rating report dated May 12, 2017,
Moody’s reaffirmed Oakland County’s AAA status and stated:

“Oakland County demonstrates very strong management characteristics. Despite the
onset and lingering effects of the 2007-09 recession and the corresponding loss of
operating revenue, the county posted annual operating surpluses and continued to
strengthen its financial position. The county annually adopts a three-year operating
budget within a rolling five-year forecast. The county’s formal general fund balance
policy requires maintenance of no less than 20% of expenditures in reserves. We
anticipate continuation of these prudent practices will support stability of the high credit
rating, as will a low fixed cost burden that enhances the county’s capacity to absorb any
unanticipated cost growth.”
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Oakland County has retained a AAA bond rating since 1998. Oakland County’s AAA bond
rating, affirmed by two rating agencies, allows the County to borrow at the lowest possible
interest rate, saving County taxpayers millions of dollars in future costs.

The Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) of the United States and Canada
awarded a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to Oakland County
for its CAFR for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2016; this was the 26th consecutive year
Oakland County received this prestigious award. In order to be awarded the Certificate of
Achievement, Oakland County is required to publish an easily readable and efficiently organized
CAFR. This report satisfied both generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and
applicable legal requirements. A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year
only. We believe our current CAFR continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement Program’s
requirements and we are submitting it to GFOA to determine its eligibility for another certificate.

In addition, Oakland County also received the GFOA’s Distinguished Budget Presentation
Award for its triennial budget document dated October 1, 2015. This latest award is the 15th in a
row. In order to qualify for the Distinguished Budget Presentation Award, Oakland County’s
budget document was judged to be proficient in several categories, including as a policy
document, a financial plan, an operation guide, and a communications device. Oakland County
was the first governmental entity in the state of Michigan to achieve this honor in 1984, the first
year of the program.

Lastly, Oakland County is the proud recipient of the GFOA award for its Popular Annual
Financial Report (PAFR). The fiscal year 2016 PAFR award was the County’s 20th consecutive
citation. Currently, Oakland County is one of two counties in the state of Michigan that holds all
three of the GFOA awards simultaneously.
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Independent Auditor's Report

To the Board of Commissioners
Oakland County, Michigan

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining
fund information of Oakland County, Michigan (the "County") as of and for the year ended September 30, 2017
and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the County's basic financial
statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of
the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’'s judgment, including the assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no
such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinions.

Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component
units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of Oakland County, Michigan as of
September 30, 2017 and the respective changes in its financial position and, where applicable, cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Pra)g!&/;
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To the Board of Commissioners
Oakland County, Michigan

Emphasis of Matter

As described in Notes 14 and 21 to the financial statements, in 2017, the County adopted the new
accounting guidance of Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 74, Financial Reporting For
Postemployment Benefit Plans Other Than Pension Plans, and Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions. GASB Statement No. 74 and Statement No. 75
established accounting and financial reporting standards for postemployment benefits plans other than pensions
provided to the employees of governmental employers. Adopting GASB Statement No. 74 and Statement No. 75
resulted in the recognition of a net other postemployment benefit asset and significant changes to the other
postemployment benefit plan-related note disclosures and required supplemental information schedules. Our
opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.

Other Matters
Required Supplemental Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's
discussion and analysis and the other required supplemental information, as identified in the table of contents, be
presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic
financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, which considers it to be an
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational,
economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplemental
information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which
consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the
information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and
other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or
provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient
evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise
the County's basic financial statements. The combining and individual fund statements and schedules and
introductory section and statistical section, as identified in the table of contents, are presented for the purpose of
additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements.

The combining and individual fund statements and schedules, as identified in the table of contents, are the
responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other
records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including
comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to
prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our
opinion, the combining and individual fund statements and schedules, as identified in the table of contents, are
fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

The introductory section and statistical section, as identified in the table of contents, have not been subjected to
the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express
an opinion or provide any assurance on them.

22



To the Board of Commissioners
Oakland County, Michigan

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we will also issue a report on our consideration of Oakland
County, Michigan's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, grant agreements, and other matters. The purpose of that report is to
describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that
testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report
is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering
Oakland County, Michigan's internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

7424&/ f 7)&4,«/, PLLL

March 22, 2018
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County of Oakland
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The following is a discussion and analysis of Oakland County’s (the County) financial performance,
providing an overview of the activities for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2017. This analysis
should be read in conjunction with the Transmittal Letter, beginning on page 1 of this report, and with the
County’s financial statements, which follow this section.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Government-wide:

In total, Oakland County’s financial position increased by $61.8 million or 5.0 percent during fiscal
year 2017, increasing from $1,231.2 million to $1,293.0 million, which reflects a $38.4 million
adjustment and restatement for the implementation of Governmental Accounting Standards Board
(GASB) Statement No. 75. The restatement is further detailed later in this analysis and in Note 21.
Governmental activities net position increased by approximately $57.7 million, increasing from
$488.5 million to $546.2 million and includes a $38.4 million adjustment for the implementation of
GASB Statement No. 75.

Business-type activity net position increased $4.1 million from $742.7 million to $746.8 million.

Fund Level:

At the close of the fiscal year, the County’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund
balance of $322.4 million, a decrease of $8.1 million from the fiscal year 2016 governmental funds
combined ending fund balance, primarily reflecting a decrease of bond issuance proceeds compared
to fiscal year 2016 activity.

The General Fund balance increased by $9.5 million from $255.2 million at the end of fiscal year
2016 to $264.7 million at the end of fiscal year 2017. The overall increase is primarily attributed to
the decrease of one-time transfers out for capital-related projects during fiscal year 2017.

At the close of the fiscal year, the County’s proprietary funds reported a combined ending net position
of $814.2 million, consisting of $746.8 million for the Enterprise Funds (a $4.1 million increase from
fiscal year 2016) and $67.3 million for the Internal Service Funds (a $42.6 million increase from
fiscal year 2016). This overall increase is primarily due to the implementation of GASB 75. See Note
21 for the restatement related to GASB 75.

Capital and Long-term Debt Activities:

The County’s capital assets experienced a net increase of $15.5 million during fiscal year 2017,
primarily for increases in buildings and improvements and construction in progress activities.

The County reported approximately $17.9 million in new general government debt and business-type
debt during fiscal year 2017, which supported debt for Sewage Disposal Act 342 system improvement
projects and Michigan Bond Authority debt for multiple water and sewer projects.

The County’s primary government bond and note obligations decreased by $35.5 million during fiscal
year 2017, which reflects $8.1 million in payments related to Building Authority debt, $23.0 million
in payments related to Retirees Health Care bonds, and $4.4 million in payments related to Water and
Sewer debt.

The County is $6.2 billion below its authorized debt limit.
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County of Oakland
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The annual financial report of the County consists of the following components: 1) Introductory Section
which includes the Transmittal Letter; 2) Financial Section which includes the Auditor’s Report, the
Management’s Discussion and Analysis, the Basic Financial Statements (government-wide financial
statements, fund financial statements, notes to the financial statements), Required Supplementary
Information such as a budget to actual comparison for the General Fund, additional Non-Required
Information including combining financial statements for all non-major governmental funds, proprietary
funds and fiduciary funds; and 3) Statistical Section which provides a ten (10) year history on specific
data regarding the County.

Government-wide Financial Statements (Reporting the County as a Whole)

The set of basic financial statements includes the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of
Activities, which report information about the County as a whole and about its activities. Their purpose is
to assist in answering the question: is the County, in its entirety, better or worse off as a result of this
fiscal year’s activities? These statements, which include all non-fiduciary assets and liabilities, are
reported on the accrual basis of accounting, similar to a private business. Accrual accounting means
revenues are accounted for when they are earned, and expenses are accounted for when an obligation is
incurred, regardless of when the actual cash is received or disbursed.

The Statement of Net Position presents the entire County’s assets and liabilities, recording the difference
between the two as “net position.” Over time, increases or decreases in net position measure whether the
County’s financial position is improving or declining.

The Statement of Activities presents information showing how the County’s net position changed during
fiscal year 2017. All changes in net position are reported based on the period for which the underlying
events occur, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Therefore, revenue and expenses are reported
in these statements for some items that will only result in cash flows in future financial periods, such as
uncollected taxes and earned but unused employee annual leave.

Both statements report the following activities:

e Governmental Activities — Most of the County’s basic services are reported under this category.
Taxes, charges for services, and intergovernmental revenues primarily fund these services. Most of
the County Executive departments, law enforcement, the courts, the Board of Commissioner
operations, and other countywide elected official operations are reported under these activities.

e Business-type Activities — These activities operate like private businesses. The County charges fees to
recover the cost of the services provided. The Oakland County International Airport, Water and
Sewer services, and the Parks and Recreation Fund operations are examples of these activities.

e Discretely Presented Component Units — Component units are legally separate organizations for
which the Board of Commissioners appoints a majority of the organization’s policy board and there is
a degree of financial accountability to the County. Two organizations are included as component
units: the Road Commission for Oakland County and the Drainage Districts.

25



County of Oakland
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

As stated previously, the government-wide statements report on an accrual basis of accounting.
However, the governmental funds report on a modified accrual basis. Under modified accrual
accounting, revenues are recognized when they are available to pay obligations of the fiscal period,
expenditures are recognized when they are due and able to be paid from available resources.

Because of the different basis of accounting between the fund statements (described below) and the
government-wide statements, a reconciliation between the two statement types is presented in the
financial section. The following summarizes the impact of transitioning from modified accrual to full
accrual accounting:

e Capital assets used in governmental activities (depreciation) are not reported on the governmental
fund financial statements.

e Capital outlay spending results in capital assets on the government-wide statements, but is reported as
expenditures on the governmental fund financial statements.

o Internal service funds are reported as governmental activities on the government-wide statements, but
are reported as proprietary funds on the fund financial statements.

e Long-term contingencies, such as litigation, etc., appear as liabilities on the government-wide
statements; however, they will not appear on the governmental fund financial statements unless
current resources are used to pay a specific obligation.

e Bond proceeds are reported as liabilities on the government-wide statements, but are recorded as
other financing sources on the governmental fund financial statements.

Fund Financial Statements (Reporting the County’s Major Funds)

The fund financial statements provide information on the County’s significant (major) funds — not on the
County as a whole. A fund is a fiscal and accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts that the
County uses to keep track of specific sources of funding and spending for a particular purpose. State law
or policy requires some separate funds, such as the Child Care Fund; other funds are required by bond or
grant agreements, such as the Friend of the Court Fund. Funds are also utilized to track specific
operations, which include the internal services funds (e.g., Motor Pool, Fringe Benefits, Building and
Liability Insurance, etc.) and enterprise funds (e.g., Airports and Parks and Recreation).

The basic financial statements only report major funds as defined by the GASB and the Michigan
Department of Treasury. All other funds are classified as non-major funds. The County includes detailed
information on its non-major funds in other sections of this report.

The County’s funds are divided into three categories — governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary — and use
different accounting approaches:

e Governmental Funds — Most of the County’s basic services are reported in the governmental funds.
The focus of these funds is how cash and other financial assets that can be readily converted to cash,
flow in and out during the course of the fiscal year, and how the balances left at year-end are
available for spending on future services. Consequently, the governmental fund statements provide a
detailed short-term view that helps determine whether there are more or fewer financial resources that
may be expended in the near future to finance the County’s programs. These funds are reported using
the modified accrual basis of accounting as described above. Because this basis of accounting differs
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from the government-wide statements, additional information is provided reconciling the
governmental fund statements to the government-wide statements. Governmental funds include the
General Fund, as well as Special Revenue Funds (use of fund balance is restricted), Capital Projects
Funds (used to report major capital acquisitions and construction), and Debt Service Funds (accounts
for resources used to pay long-term debt principal and interest).

o Proprietary Funds — Services, for which the County charges customers (whether outside the County
structure or a County department) a fee, are generally reported in proprietary funds. Proprietary funds
use the accrual basis of accounting used in the government-wide statements and by private business.
There are two types of proprietary funds. Enterprise funds report activities that provide supplies and
services to the general public as well as the cities, villages, and townships. An example is the
Oakland County International Airport. Internal Service funds report activities that provide supplies
and a service primarily to the County’s other operations, such as the Motor Pool Fund. Internal
Service funds are reported as governmental activities on the government-wide statements.

o Fiduciary Funds — The County acts as a trustee or fiduciary for its employee pension plans. It is also
responsible for other assets that, because of trust arrangements, can only be used for the trust
beneficiaries. The County’s fiduciary activities are reported in separate statements of Fiduciary Net
Position and Changes in Fiduciary Net Position. These funds, which include pension, VEBA, and
agency funds, are reported using the accrual basis of accounting. The government-wide statements
exclude the fiduciary fund activities and balances because these assets are not available to the County
to fund its operations.

Notes to the Financial Statements

The Notes to the Basic Financial Statements provide additional information that is essential to a full
understanding of the detail provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.

Required Supplementary Information

Following the basic financial statements is additional Required Supplementary Information (RSI) which
further explains and supports the information in the financial statements. RSI includes a budgetary
comparison schedule for the General Fund as well as pension and OPEB trend data.

Other Supplementary Information

Other supplementary information includes combining financial statements for non-major governmental,
proprietary, and fiduciary funds. These funds are added together, by fund type, and are presented in
single columns in the basic financial statements, but are not reported individually, as are the major funds,
on the government-wide statements.
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Special Note:
Implementation of GASB Statement Number 74, Statement Number 75 and Statement Number 77

The fiscal year 2017 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report reflects the implementation of
Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 74, Financial Reporting for Postemployment
Benefit Plans Other Than Pension Plan, Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for
Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions, and Statement No. 77, Tax Abatement Disclosures.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE COUNTY AS A WHOLE

As previously stated, Oakland County’s overall financial position improved during fiscal year 2017. As
reflected on the table below, the County’s combined net position increased by $61.8 million over the
course of fiscal year 2017 operations. In particular, the net position of the governmental activities
increased by approximately $57.7 million (11.8 percent) primarily reflecting the implementation of
GASB No. 75. The business-type activities increased $4.1 million in net position (0.6 percent) which
reflects capital asset contributions primarily related to Evergreen Farmington Sewage Disposal System
(EFSDS) projects and accounts for the conveyance of Oakland Township Water Supply System
infrastructure and related assets.

Oakland County's Net Position
(in millions of dollars)

Governmental Business-type Total Primary
Activities Activities Government
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Current Assets $ 5911 $ 5462 $ 5075 $ 4963 $ 1,0986 $ 1,042.5
Capital Assets 219.4 204.8 326.9 326.0 546.3 530.8
Other Long-term Assets 347.7 217.2 - - 347.7 217.2
Total Assets 1,158.2 968.2 834.4 822.3 1,992.6 1,790.5
Deferred Outflows of Resources
Related to Pension - 19.3 - - - 19.3
Current Liabilities 156.7 115.8 61.1 54.3 217.8 170.1
Other Liabilities 396.0 421.6 26.5 253 422.5 446.9
Total Liabilities 552.7 537.4 87.6 79.6 640.3 617.0
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Related to Pension 12.2 - - - 12.2 -
Related to OPEB 47.1 - - - 47.1 -
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 59.3 - - - 59.3 -
Net Position:
GASB 75 adjustment - 38.4 - - - 38.4
Net Investment in Capital Assets 168.5 147.7 298.6 299.3 467.1 447.0
Restricted 41.0 36.0 96.5 98.3 137.5 134.3
Unrestricted 336.7 266.4 351.7 345.1 688.4 611.5
Total Net Position $ 5462 $§ 4885 $ 7468 $ 7427 $ 1,293.0 $ 1,231.2
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The following condensed financial information was derived from the government-wide Statement of
Activities and reflects how the County’s net position changed during the fiscal year:

Changes in Oakland County's Net Position
(in millions of dollars)

Governmental Business-type Total Primary
Activities Activities Government
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Revenues
Program Revenues
Charges for Services $ 1863 § 1819 $ 2759 §$ 2710 $ 4622 $ 4529
Grants and Contributions
Operating 55.7 56.6 1.7 2.4 57.4 59.0
Capital 2.3 1.5 15.9 29.4 18.2 30.9
General Revenues
Property Taxes 221.2 210.2 12.4 12.2 233.6 2224
Intergovernmental Revenue 442 42.8 0.3 - 44.5 42.8
Investment Earnings 34 39 4.4 3.6 7.8 7.5
Other Revenue 1.8 3.8 - - 1.8 3.8
Gain on Sale of Assets 0.4 0.4 - - 04 0.4
Total Revenues 5153 501.1 310.6 318.6 825.9 819.7
Expenses
Public Safety 198.2 186.4 19.6 20.8 217.8 207.2
Justice Administration 91.2 88.2 - - 91.2 88.2
Citizen Services 80.4 77.5 6.6 6.6 87.0 84.1
Public Works 445 53.6 223.8 214.5 268.3 268.1
Recreation and Leisure 1.4 1.3 25.1 235 26.5 248
Commerce and Community Dev. 42.6 42.6 - - 42.6 42.6
General Government 7.2 37.0 0.9 0.9 8.1 379
Interest on Debt Service 3.6 32 - - 3.6 32
Unallocated Depreciation 3.8 3.5 - - 3.8 3.5
Total Expenses 472.9 4933 276.0 266.3 748.9 759.6
Revenues Over Expenditures 42.4 7.8 34.6 52.3 77.0 60.1
Special item - Transfer of water system - - (15.2) - (15.2) -
Transfers - Ongoing 15.3 17.8 (15.3) (17.8) - -
Increase in Net Position 57.7 25.6 4.1 345 61.8 60.1
Net Position - Beginning 488.5 424.5 742.7 708.2 1,231.2 1,132.7
Net Position - Ending 546.2 450.1 746.8 742.7 1,293.0 1,192.8
GASB 75 adjustment - 384 # - - - 38.4
Adjusted Net Position - Ending $ 546.2 § 488.5 $ 746.8 § 742.7 $ 1,293.0 $ 1,231.2

#Beginning balance adjusted per restatement. See Note #21.
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Governmental Activities:

The following charts depict revenues and expenses of the governmental activities for the fiscal year:

Revenues - Governmental Activities Fiscal Year Ended 9/30/2017
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In total, fiscal year 2017 governmental activity revenue collections increased by $14.2 million (2.8
percent) from fiscal year 2016. Of this amount, property tax revenue increased by $11.0 million, charges
for services increased by $4.4 million, and intergovernmental revenue increased by $1.4 million. These
increases were partially offset by declines of $2.0 million in the other revenue category, investment
earnings of $500,000, and grants and contributions of $100,000 from the fiscal year 2016 amounts.

Property taxes generated $221.2 million in revenue, remaining the largest source of support for
governmental activities, comprising 42.9 percent of all governmental activity revenue. Governmental
activities have decreased their dependency on property taxes; the fiscal year 2017 percentage is far below
fiscal year 2008, when property taxes represented 60.6 percent of governmental activity revenue.
However, this reduced reliance on property tax revenue is due to reduced property values when compared
to 2008 rather than substantial increases from other revenue sources.

Property tax revenue increased by approximately $11.0 million from the amount realized during fiscal
year 2016. This overall increase is primarily due to increasing property taxable values over the past year
as well as the timing of tax collections. The County’s operating millage rate of 4.04 mills is one of the
lowest county general operating millage rates in the state. For more details regarding actual property tax
collections, please see the statistical section appearing in the last section of this document.

Charges for services, which reflects revenue generated by county operations charging specific benefiting
parties for services performed, as well as recognition of other revenues generated by specific programs, is
the second largest source of governmental activity revenue, generating $186.3 million or 36.2 percent of
the total. There are a wide variety of activities charged under this category, including service rendered to
individuals, such as fees for marriage licenses, passports, and access to county records, as well as services
rendered to other governmental units including contracted law enforcement and dispatch services, and the
housing of state wards in the County’s juvenile facility.

The $186.3 million collected in fiscal year 2017 represents a $4.4 million increase (2.4 percent) from the
previous fiscal year. The primary reason for the change is due to increased land sale activity which
accounted for $4.5 million.

The third largest source of support for governmental activities is the $58.0 million received in operating
and capital grants and contributions during fiscal year 2017, which is 11.3 percent of the total revenue for
governmental activities. This amount represents a $100,000 net decrease (0.2 percent) from fiscal year
2016 and reflects minor activity variances from the prior year. Included in this total change is a $900,000
decrease in operating grants and a $800,000 increase in capital contributions and grants in comparison to
fiscal year 2016.

Oakland County governmental activities also recorded $44.2 million in intergovernmental revenue during
fiscal year 2017, a $1.4 million increase over the $42.8 million received in fiscal year 2016. The increase
is primarily related to revenue from the State for personal property tax loss reimbursements.
Intergovernmental revenue is “shared” revenue by the state and federal government and is not tied to
contractual obligations such as grant agreements. However, in the case of the convention facility liquor
tax revenue, one-half of the revenues distributed by the State under the authority of the State Convention
Facility Development Act, P.A. 106 of 1985, must be earmarked for substance abuse prevention and
treatment programs.
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Governmental activities generated $3.4 million in investment earnings during fiscal year 2017; this
amount reflects a decrease of $500,000 (12.8 percent) from the amount earned in fiscal year 2016. While
an overall decrease from the prior year, the County’s investment pool rates continue to outperform U.S.
Treasury rates.

Governmental activity fiscal year expenses decreased $20.4 million from the fiscal year 2016 expense
level, a 4.1 percent decrease from the previous fiscal year.

Public Safety continued to be the largest governmental activity, expensing $198.2 million of the $472.9
million total governmental activities amount (41.9 percent). Public Safety, which encompasses law
enforcement, crime prevention, incarceration, emergency management, and technical support,
experienced a $11.8 million increase (6.3 percent) in comparison to the previous fiscal year. This increase
can be attributed to a 3.0 percent general salary increase and related fringe benefits, fluctuations in
contractual services and equipment maintenance, and entity-wide statement adjustments for capital outlay
and internal service fund lookback allocations.

Closely linked to Public Safety, Justice Administration is the second largest expense category accounting
for $91.2 million, or 19.3 percent, of the total governmental activity expenses. The Justice Administration
activity, which centers on the operations of the 6™ Judicial Circuit Court, 52nd District Court, as well as
the Prosecuting Attorney, County Clerk functions which support the courts, and the Reimbursement Unit
of the Fiscal Services Division, experienced a $3.0 million increase (3.4 percent) from the previous fiscal
year which primarily reflects the general salary increase previously noted and increases in various
operating costs for defense attorney expenses, deputy supplies, technology development services, and
insurance charges.

Citizen Services, which include all public health activities, public services such as Veterans’ Services,
and the care of children who have been declared wards of the Oakland County Family Court, is the third
largest governmental activity with $80.4 million in expenses, or 17.0 percent, of the total governmental
activities. Expenses increased by $2.9 million from the fiscal year 2016 level (3.7 percent). The majority
of the increase is due to a 3.0 percent general salary increase, fluctuation of staffing levels, and Home
Investment Partnership grant activity.

The Public Works activity, which includes the operating systems that form the infrastructure of basic
county functions, expensed $44.5 million in fiscal year 2017, or 9.4 percent of the total governmental
activities expenses. This level of expense is a net decrease of $9.1 million or 17.0 percent from fiscal year
2016. This reflects the fluctuation of activity for Act 342 water and sewer projects.

Commerce and Community Development, which reflects all efforts to promote and sustain a strong
economic business climate and vibrant communities, experienced $42.6 million in expenses, or 9.0
percent, of the total governmental activities. There was no change from prior fiscal year activity.

The General Government activity, which is comprised of the administration and financial management of
County business, expensed $7.2 million in fiscal year 2017, or 1.5 percent of the total governmental
activities expenses. The level of expenses in fiscal year 2017 decreased by approximately $29.8 million
from the fiscal year 2016 level. This is largely due to a $28.6 million decrease related to pension expense
and retiree healthcare expense as the result of GASB No. 68 and GASB No. 75; both the pension and
VEBA plans have a funding surplus.
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As stated previously, the result of fiscal year 2017 governmental activity was an overall increase of $57.7
million in net position, to $546.2 million. Of the total $546.2 million in governmental activities net
position, $168.5 million is invested in capital assets; $41.0 million is reported as restricted, meaning these
assets are legally committed for a specific purpose through statute or by another authority outside the
County government; and $336.7 million is reported as unrestricted.

Business-type Activities:

Net position in business-type activities is reported at $746.8 million for fiscal year 2017, an increase of
$4.1 million (0.6 percent) over the amount reported at the end of fiscal year 2016. Of the total net
position, $298.6 million is for the net investment in capital assets, $96.5 million is restricted, and $351.7
million is reported as unrestricted. It is important to note that although reported as unrestricted, many of
these assets have been reserved through Board of Commissioners resolutions to be spent on specific
activities.

During fiscal year 2017, business-type activities generated $310.6 million in revenue; this is a decrease of
$8.0 million (2.5 percent) from the previous fiscal year. The overall change reflects a net $13.5 million
decrease of capital asset contributions primarily related to the Evergreen Farmington Sewage Disposal
System (EFSDS). This is partially offset by an overall net increase of $4.9 million for Charges for
Services revenue. Included in the net $4.9 million is an increase of $7.5 million related to rate and usage
fluctuations in the various water and sewer funds and a reduction in revenue of $2.3 million in the
Delinquent Tax Revolving Fund as there are fewer delinquent properties.

Business-type activity recorded expenses of $276.0 million, an increase of $9.7 million from fiscal year
2016 (3.6 percent). This overall increase is primarily for Public Works activity due to general operating
expense fluctuations in the various sewage disposal systems and water and sewer retail systems; this is
partially offset by the revenue increases for these systems that are noted above.

Business-type activity also recognized a Special Item transaction in fiscal year 2017. Miscellaneous
Resolution #17020 authorized the conveyance of Oakland County’s interest in the Oakland Township
Water Supply System. This noncash transaction removed the net book value of infrastructure and related
assets in the amount of approximately $15.2 million. The system is now owned by the Charter Township
of Oakland, but Oakland County continues to operate and maintain the system under a contractual
agreement.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE COUNTY’S MAJOR FUNDS

GASB Statement 34 requires that funds designated as “major” be presented as a separate column on the
face of the financial statements. Statement 34 defines a “major fund” as the General Fund, and any
governmental or enterprise fund which has either total assets, total liabilities, total revenues or total
expenditures/expenses that equal at least ten (10) percent of those categories for either the governmental
funds or the enterprise funds and where the individual fund total also represents five (5) percent of those
categories for governmental and enterprise funds combined.

Governmental Funds

Three (3) governmental funds are designated as major funds of the County; the General Fund, the
Building Authority Debt Act 31 Fund, and the Water and Sewer Debt Act 342 Fund. As the County
completed fiscal year 2017, the governmental funds reported combined fund balances of $322.4 million
with the fund balances of the General Fund, the Building Authority Debt Act 31 and the Water and Sewer
Debt Act 342, representing 84.2 percent of the combined governmental funds balance.
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The fiscal year ending combined fund balance of $322.4 million represents a decrease of $8.1 million
from the combined fund balance reported at the end of fiscal year 2016. The overall decrease in the
combined governmental fund balances includes a $9.5 million increase to the General Fund balance,
reflecting the decrease of one-time transfers out for capital-related projects during fiscal year 2017. The
Building Authority Debt Act 31 decreased by approximately $1.0 million which reflects the partial
utilization of the $7.0 million transfer in fiscal year 2016 from the General Fund to the Animal Control
and Pet Adoption Center debt service fund to cover the first seven (7) years of debt service. The Water
and Sewer Debt Act 342 remained relatively unchanged. The non-major governmental funds decreased by
$16.6 million and primarily represents a decrease in bond issuance proceeds of $25.8 million and a
decrease of $6.3 million for transfers in activity in comparison to the prior year. This is partially offset by
an increase in capital outlay activity for the Animal Control and Pet Adoption project of $13.0 million.

General Fund

The General Fund is the principal operating fund of the County. Unless otherwise required by statute,
contractual agreement or policy, all County revenues and expenditures are recorded in the General Fund.
As of September 30, 2017 the General Fund reported a fund balance of $264.7 million. This amount
reflects an increase of $9.5 million (3.7 percent) from the fund balance of $255.2 million reported as of
September 30, 2016.

The overall $9.5 million increase in the General Fund balance is a result of General Fund revenues
exceeding General Fund expenditures by $38.5 million. In addition, the General Fund received $13.3
million in transfers from other funds, while transferring $42.2 million to other funds, rendering a net
“transfer-out” of $28.9 million.

General Fund revenues were recorded at $397.6 million for fiscal year 2017. This amount is an increase
of $10.5 million (2.7 percent) from the $387.1 million received in fiscal year 2016. The majority of the
increase reflects higher charges for services revenue due to increased land sale activity, improved taxable
values and tax collections, and additional intergovernmental revenue for the Local Community
Stabilization Share revenue from the State for reimbursement of personal property tax losses.

General Fund expenditures were $359.1 million, an increase of $12.5 million from the fiscal year 2016
level (3.6 percent). The overall change primarily reflects increased operational activity for law
enforcement and justice administration expenditures as well as the 3.0 percent general salary increase
previously noted.

The General Fund received $13.3 million in transfers from other funds; this is a decrease of $1.3 million
(8.9 percent) from the amounts transferred during fiscal year 2016. This decrease primarily reflects a
reduction of $2.2 million related to transfers from the Delinquent Tax Revolving Fund and is partially
offset by a $900,000 increase related to transfer activity from restricted and project work order funds.

The General Fund transferred $42.2 million to other funds during fiscal year 2017. This amount is $17.9
million less (29.8 percent) than the fiscal year 2016 transfers. The net decrease reflects a one-time transfer
of $7.0 million for the Animal Control and Pet Adoption Center facility debt in fiscal year 2016 that did
not reoccur in fiscal year 2017, a $8.4 million reduction in transfers to the Project Work Order Fund due
to the timing of various capital and maintenance projects, a reduction of $3.5 million to the Major
Department Support Projects Fund for the Imaging System Replacement Project that occurred in fiscal
year 2016, and a $700,000 reduction in transfers to the Fire Records Management Fund for a one-time
project that occurred in fiscal year 2016. This is partially offset by a transfer out of $1.5 million to the
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Building and Liability Fund for sewer project settlement as well as modest operational requirements
related to the Child Care Fund, internal services funds and various grants.

Of the total $264.7 million General Fund balance, all but $3.0 million is Nonspendable, Restricted, or
Assigned for specific purposes. The total fiscal year 2017 General Fund balance represents 65.9 percent
of the fiscal year 2017 General Fund operations. However, it should be noted that $128.1 million from
the General Fund balance has been assigned for “Budget Transition” to support future operations. This
assignment was developed through the acceleration of budget reductions planned for use in future fiscal
years. When this assignment is removed, the remaining fund balance represents 34.0 percent of the fiscal
year 2017 General Fund operations. The General Fund balance of $264.7 million represents 82.1 percent
of the combined fund balances of the governmental funds.

General Fund Budgetary Highlights

Oakland County’s budget is a dynamic document. Although adopted on September 22, 2016 (prior to the
start of the fiscal year), the budget is frequently amended during the course of the fiscal year to reflect
changing operational demands.

The General Fund revenue budget was increased by $5.4 million (1.4 percent) during the fiscal year 2017
from $379.4 million to $384.8 million. The revenue budget was amended in a number of areas. Most
significant was the additional revenue from the State of Michigan for Convention Facility Liquor Tax of
$1.4 million and Local Community Stabilization Share personal property tax loss reimbursements of
$960,720. Other material amendments included over $1.1 million for Sheriff Law Enforcement Services
contracts, Reimbursement General of $645,000 in the Water Resources Commissioner Office for charges
to special revenue and proprietary funds, and Commission Public Telephone monies of almost $620,000.
Also, there were revenue amendments for various departments including the County Executive, Central
Services, Health, Economic Development, Clerk/Register of Deeds and Probate Court to reflect
operational activity.

Actual General Fund revenue totaled $397.6 million, $12.8 million more than the amended budget.
Although variances naturally occur in every revenue line item, the most significant reason for this
variance is reflected in the Charges for Services category which was favorable by $12.6 million primarily
related to the sale of foreclosed property, favorable Mortgage and Land Transfer Tax revenue, and Court
Fines and Costs revenue.

The General Fund expenditure budget increased $4.6 million (1.2 percent) from $379.1 million to $383.7
million during fiscal year 2017. Changes included $3.7 million in operating appropriations from fiscal
year 2016 that were carried forward for specific projects which were not yet completed. Most notably,
the funds carried forward included $965,903 for Tri-Party Road Improvement Program projects, which is
a collaborative effort between Oakland County, the Road Commission of Oakland County (RCOC), and
the individual cities, townships, and villages (CVT’s) located within the county, in which each one
contributes a one-third share of the program to the RCOC once projects have been identified; $777,191
for Circuit Court Defense Attorney Fees; $252,778 to continue Circuit Court’s State Judicial Technology
Improvement and Online Judges project and the use of mediation funds for equipment and furniture;
$586,866 for Juvenile Resentencing pending a Supreme Court appeal on Juvenile Resentencing cases;
$191,585 in the Sheriff’s Office primarily for a helicopter engine overhaul project; $191,081 for various
Economic Development activities; $165,800 for Human Resources Legal and Professional Services;
$120,932 for Local Road Improvement Program projects in cities and villages; $105,494 for
Miscellaneous Capital Outlay for furniture replacement; $97,088 for Board of Commissioner Special
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Projects for Gun Safety, Youth Enrichment Scholarship program, and School Bullying Prevention;
$86,015 for Health Equipment and Lab Supplies; and $81,500 in the Treasurer’s Office for the demolition
of tax reverted properties.

There were additional appropriations made during fiscal year 2017 including $2.3 million for overtime
costs in the Sheriff’s Office primarily related to jail operational staffing requirements; new Tri-Party Road
Improvement Program projects in the amount of $1.6 million; $715,700 in new Local Road Improvement
program projects; $694,400 million for distribution to the County’s designated Substance Abuse
Coordinating Agency, Oakland County Community Health Network (OCHN); $661,500 for equipment
maintenance primarily related to Sheriff helicopter repairs; and $111,500 for relocation costs associated
with the 2016 Presidential Election recount. These increases were partially offset by reductions of $5.4
million for a one-time rate adjustment from the Fringe Benefit Fund.

Finally, the General Appropriations Act requires that appropriations accumulate at the following three
summary levels of expenditures: Personnel Expenditures, Operating Expenditures, and Internal Support
Expenditures. Due to unfavorable personnel variances related to overtime and hospitalization, operating
costs including defense attorney fees, guardian ad litem fees, medical services — guardianship,
transportation service and internal service fund charges, the end of fiscal year 2017 resulted in several
departments reflecting actual expenses in excess of total budgeted appropriations at the summary category
level. Therefore, amendments totaling $2.6 million were made to cover the shortage in Personnel
Expenditures, Operating Expenditures and Internal Support Expenditures and were fully offset by revenue
amendments and expenditure reductions within other departmental categories.

The General Fund expenditures for fiscal year 2017 were $24.5 million below budget. This favorable
variance from the budget reflects continued conscious efforts on behalf of the County’s elected officials
to limit expenditures wherever and whenever possible.

Of the total variance, $9.1 million is attributed to salary and fringe benefits savings as all authorized
employee positions are budgeted. The favorability is the result of vacancies, employee turnover, and
filling some authorized positions with part-time non-benefit employees or filling those positions at a
lower classification than budgeted.

In addition, $6.8 million savings in the Non-Departmental budget mainly reflects that fewer adjustments
were necessary to transfer funds to operating departments due to the conscious efforts of the departments
to work within the constraints of their original budgets. Total savings also include unspent funds for Tri-
Party Road Improvement Projects, Local Road Improvement Projects, Grant Match, Juvenile
Resentencing and Capital Outlay, which were carried forward into the fiscal year 2018 budget to
complete the projects.

Further, there is $2.5 million in savings for the Circuit Court related to favorable Defense Attorney Fees,
Attorney Fees Mediators, and Juror Fees and Mileage due to less activity. The Sheriff’s Office reflects
favorable variances of $1.1 million including favorability of over $213,000 for Other Expendable
Equipment due to less than anticipated usage and almost $144,900 in favorable Fees Civil Service
expense due to the continuing decline in the number of home foreclosures (this line item is offset by
corresponding unfavorable Civil Action Service Fee revenue). The remaining Sheriff favorability is in
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Prisoner Housing Outside of County, Equipment Maintenance, Uniforms, Miscellaneous Capital Outlay,
Evidence Fund — NET, Deputy Supplies, Gasoline Charges, Office Supplies, and several smaller line item
variances. Additionally there is $688,200 for favorability in Human Resources reflecting Legal Services,
Professional Services, Recruitment Expense and Examination Materials; nearly $649,550 in the
Department of Human Services for Professional Services, Contracted Services, Personal Mileage and
Software Support Maintenance; almost $620,400 favorability in the Clerk / Register of Deeds office due
to lower use of Professional Services and Court Transcripts, Fees Per Diems and Printing; almost
$527,000 favorability in Economic Development and Community Affairs related to Professional Services,
Workshops and Meetings, Printing, Business Recruitment, Membership Dues, Travel and Conference and
Software Support Maintenance; nearly $466,500 in the Treasurer’s Office related to Title Search and Fees
Civil Service due to less than anticipated use; $260,500 Management and Budget for Professional
Services, Personal Mileage, Printing, Office Supplies, Metered Postage and Membership Dues; nearly
$227,800 favorability in Water Resources Commissioner related to Contracted Services, Legal Services,
Professional Services and Education Programs; $185,300 in the District Courts for Software Support
Maintenance, Juror Fees and Mileage, Travel and Conference, Electrical Service, Medical Exams,
Printing and Visiting Judges; and $122,700 for the Board of Commissioners related to Special Projects,
Workshops and Meetings, Professional Services — Annual Audit, Personal Mileage, Legal Services, and
Computer Research Services.

The adopted budget also included other financing sources and uses for General Fund operations,
essentially the net result of the General Fund receiving resources from other funds less the amount of
General Fund resources provided to (or transferred to) other funds. The adopted budget assumed that the
General Fund would transfer $32.9 million more in resources to other funds (financing uses) than it would
take in from these funds (financing sources). The financing uses budget was increased during fiscal year
2017 by $3.9 million from $45.0 million to $48.9 million. Major amendments included $1.5 million to
the Building Liability Fund for a water main extension project appropriation; $1.4 million to the Project
Work Order Fund primarily for building security enhancement projects and maintenance projects;
$241,600 for the Sheriff’s Office Auto Theft Prevention Grant match; $204,000 to the Child Care Fund;
$134,000 for the Sheriff’s Office and Prosecuting Attorney Narcotics Enforcement Team (NET) Grant
match; $131,100 for Information Technology projects; nearly $127,000 to the Motor Pool Fund for
vehicle acquisitions related to Sheriff’s Office law enforcement service contract amendments with local
municipalities; and several other smaller amendments related to transfers for various grants and projects.

Actual financing uses from the General Fund were $6.7 million less than budgeted. This variance largely
reflects actual operational requirements for the Child Care Fund ($5.8 million), the Friend of the Court
Grant Fund ($582,500), the Prosecuting Attorney Cooperative Reimbursement Grant Fund ($137,850),
the Sheriff’s Office Auto Theft Prevention Grant Fund ($110,150) and the Sheriff’s Office and
Prosecuting Attorney Narcotics Enforcement Team (NET) Grant Fund ($22,200).

The Building Authority Debt Act 31 Fund

The Building Authority Debt Act 31 Fund pays the debt service for projects authorized under Michigan
Public Act 31 of 1948. That act authorized the issuance of bonds to build and equip various public
buildings, which are then leased back to the County. Proceeds from those leases are used to repay the
bonds.
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During fiscal year 2017 the Building Authority Debt Act 31 Fund balance decreased by approximately
$1.0 million to report a total fund balance of approximately $6.7 million. This decrease is related to the
partial utilization of the $7.0 million transferred in fiscal year 2016 to cover the initial seven (7) years of
debt service on the Animal Control and Pet Adoption facility previously noted. The remaining activity
reflects ongoing activity to support annual debt service payments.

The remaining governmental fund classified as major, the Water and Sewer Debt Act 342 Fund,
experienced a decrease in fund balance of $4,464, to report a total fund balance of $16,120.

Enterprise Funds

There are seven (7) enterprise funds that are classified as major: the Parks and Recreation Fund, the
Delinquent Tax Revolving Fund, the County Airports Fund, the Water and Sewer Trust Fund, the
Evergreen-Farmington Sewage Disposal System (EFSDS) Fund, the Southeast Oakland County Sewage
Disposal System (SOCSDS) Fund, and the Clinton Oakland Sewage Disposal System (COSDS) Fund. As
of September 30, 2017 the Enterprise Funds had combined net position of $746.8 million, an increase of
$4.1 million from the combined net position reported at the end of fiscal year 2016. The seven major
enterprise funds alone reported net positions of $683.5 million (91.5 percent of the total combined
Enterprise net position). The net position of these seven major Enterprise funds increased overall by $7.1

million during fiscal year 2017.

Two of the seven major Enterprise Funds experienced an increase in net position. The Evergreen-
Farmington Sewage Disposal System Fund (EFSDS) increased in net position by $15.8 million (24.8
percent) to $79.4 million. The increase in net position is attributed largely to capital asset contributions
from Act 342 projects of $14.6 million as well as fluctuating operating activity over the prior year.

The Clinton Oakland Sewage Disposal System Fund (COSDS) ended fiscal year 2017 with a net position
of $41.2 million, $1.3 million (3.3 percent) more than the net position recorded at the end of fiscal year
2016. The increase in net position is primarily for fluctuating operating activity over the prior year.

The Parks and Recreation Fund net position decreased $1.9 million (2.0 percent) during fiscal year 2017
to a total of $91.3 million in net position. This decrease resulted from operating expenses outpacing
charges for services and property tax revenue.

The Delinquent Tax Revolving Fund (DTRF) ended fiscal year 2017 with a net position of $197.4 million,
$2.8 million (1.4 percent) less than the net position recorded at the end of fiscal year 2017. This decrease
is the result of reduced charges for services revenue as the amount of delinquencies declined, reduced
interest revenue, and reflects an operational transfer to the General Fund of $9.0 million in fiscal year
2016. As noted in the Transmittal Letter, future operational transfers to the General Fund have been
reduced to $6.0 million per year to ensure that the DTRF is able to meet all funding commitments. The
fiscal year 2017 net position of $197.4 million is still more than sufficient to meet fund obligations.

The County Airports Fund recorded a net position of $76.9 million as of September 30, 2017. This
reflects a reduction of approximately $626,000 (0.8 percent) in net position from fiscal year 2016. The
primary reason is due to fluctuating operating activity over the prior year.
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The Water and Sewer Trust Fund realized a $4.2 million loss (2.6 percent) in fiscal year 2017 to report a
net position of $154.9 million. This overall reduction is mainly attributed to the conveyance of Oakland
County’s interest in the Oakland Township Water Supply System previously noted. This noncash
transaction removed the net book value of infrastructure and related assets in the amount of
approximately $15.2 million. This is partially offset by fluctuations in operating activity for the various
water and sewer systems.

The Southeast Oakland County Sewage Disposal System Fund (SOCSDS) experienced an $545,000
decrease (1.3 percent) in net position to $42.3 million. The decrease is primarily due to minor fluctuating
operating activity over the prior year.

CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION

Capital Assets - At the end of fiscal year 2017, the County had invested $546.3 million, net of
accumulated depreciation, in a broad range of capital assets (see table below). This amount of net capital
assets reflects an increase of $15.5 million from the fiscal year 2016. This can be attributed to a $14.6
million increase in governmental activities and a $900,000 increase to business-type activities.

Oakland County's Capital Assets
(net of depreciation, in millions of dollars)

Governmental Business-type Total Primary
Activities Activities Government

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

Land § 74 § 74 $§ 682 $ 682 $§ 756 $ 756
Land Improvements 0.2 0.2 7.6 7.7 7.8 7.9
Buildings and Improvements 147.1 135.7 56.9 57.5 204.0 193.2
Equipment and Vehicles 32.6 244 11.5 16.6 441 41.0
Infrastructure 15.4 12.2 82.9 92.0 98.3 104.2
Subtotal 202.7 179.9 227.1 2420 4298 4219
Construction in Progress 16.7 24.9 99.8 84.0 116.5 108.9
Total Capital Assets $§ 2194 §$2048 $ 3269 $326.0 § 5463 §$ 530.8

Net capital assets for the governmental activities increased by $14.6 million in fiscal year 2017. This

change includes increases of $11.4 million in buildings and improvements, $8.2 million in equipment and
vehicles, and $3.2 million in Infrastructure. The increase was offset by reductions of $8.2 million in
construction in progress. In terms of gross numbers, the County’s governmental activities had additions to
capital assets of $30.4 million, $3.6 million in disposals of capital assets, and a $12.2 million increase in
net accumulated depreciation.
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Of the $30.4 million in additions to capital assets during fiscal year 2017, $25.7 million reflects additions
to construction in progress. Major governmental activity incurred for construction in progress includes
the following:

e $13.0 million on the Animal Control and Pet Adoption Center building construction
e $5.1 million for various building security and fire system enhancements
e $4.1 million for technology software and hardware projects consisting of:
e Watchguard in car video cameras and mobile data computers of $1.7 million used primarily
in the Sheriff’s Office patrol vehicles
Imaging system project of $1.4 million
Servers and network equipment of $354,000
Tax assessment and management software of $313,000
e Pictometry Software for viewing GIS data of $296,000
e $900,000 on service center road and parking lot replacements and improvements
$731,000 for the replacement of the kitchen floor located in the Sheriff’s Office Jail complex
e $700,000 for upgrades to the Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition (SCADA) program used
by the Water Resource Commissioner’s office which allows for monitoring of systems and the
development of a comprehensive asset management plan to watch, evaluate, and assist in the
maintenance of infrastructure assets
$302,000 for renovations and improvement to the county complex steam tunnel system
e $210,000 for the roof replacement at the jail complex
$156,000 for radio coverage enhancements

The remaining $4.7 million reflects additions primarily to equipment and vehicles. Among these additions
is $3.2 million in replacement vehicles and $153,000 for six (6) additional fleet vehicles for the Sheriff’s
Office and various other departments. Other equipment purchases included $670,000 for various grounds
and building maintenance equipment, $248,096 for improvements to six (6) Circuit Court courtroom
audio video systems, $184,000 for various equipment used in jail and law enforcement operations,
$83,000 for technology upgrades to network and voicemail equipment, and $55,000 for Health lab
equipment.

The County disposed of $3.6 million in equipment and vehicles during fiscal year 2017. Disposals
primarily included vehicles which were replaced by the new purchases discussed above, as well as
computer and maintenance equipment that was sold at auction.

Net capital assets for the business-type activities increased $900,000 during fiscal year 2017. This change

is comprised of a $15.8 million net increase for construction in progress. The increase was offset by net
decreases of $9.1 million in infrastructure, $5.1 million in equipment and vehicles, $600,000 in building
and improvements, and $100,000 in land improvements. In terms of gross numbers, the County’s
business-type activities had additions to capital assets of $34.2 million, $39.6 million in disposals of
capital assets, and a $6.3 million net decrease in accumulated depreciation.

Major business-type capital asset additions during fiscal year 2017 included the following:
e $21.2 million in the Evergreen Farmington Sewage Disposal System Fund for various projects
directed to improve the system and reduce sanitary sewer overflows, including $12.4 million on

the Middlebelt Tunnel sewer project and $5.7 million on the Telegraph/Franklin Sewer
Replacement
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e $4.9 million for Pontiac Water system infrastructure improvements intended to increase water
pressure, decrease the frequency of water main breaks, as well as meter system replacement

e $1.5 million for the Walled Lake Novi Wastewater Treatment Facility for Safety and Facility
improvements

o $1.4 million in projects for the Parks and Recreation Fund consisting of a variety of park
improvements, including building projects for ADA improvements, roofing projects, paths,
boardwalks, docks, campgrounds, upgrades to utility meters for compliance with emergency
management policies, a mobile stage, and grounds maintenance equipment replacement

e $1.4 million for the Oakland County Airports Fund related to runway and taxiway rehabilitation
at the Oakland International and Oakland Troy airports

e $1.1 million in the Radio Communications Fund related to upgrading existing infrastructure and
911 call taking system

e $676,000 in the Clinton Oakland Sewage Disposal System Fund for projects primarily reflecting
costs for the stabilization of the Clinton River streambank near the location of the interceptor, and
the construction of the Perry Street pump station and force main which links the Clinton Oakland
Sewage Disposal System and the Pontiac Wastewater Treatment Facility

e $91,000 in the Courts and Law Enforcement Management Information System (CLEMIS) Fund
primarily for optimization of the Computer Aided Dispatch (CAD) system

Disposals included removal of outdated software that was fully depreciated and equipment sold in the
County auction all having an original cost of $17.8 million with a remaining book value of $400,000.
Additionally, the Oakland Township Water Supply System (OTWSS) was transferred to Charter
Township of Oakland. The original cost of OTWSS was $21.8 million with accumulated depreciation at
the time of the transfer of $6.6 million. The above additions were further offset by $17.7 million in
depreciation expense.

Please review Note 7 to the financial statements for additional information regarding capital assets.

Long-term Debt - As of September 30, 2017, the Primary Government had $461.0 million in bonds and
notes outstanding. Of this amount, $436.0 million are bonds with limited taxing authority, and $25.0
million are notes with limited taxing authority. This represents a $17.6 million decrease from September
30, 2016 in the limited tax authority bonds and no change in the limited taxing authority notes. In
addition, the County uses its full faith and credit (as a secondary obligor), to back $250.2 million of
Drainage District component unit debt. The Drainage District component unit debt experienced an overall
decrease of $14.5 million in fiscal year 2017. As detailed in Note 8 to the financial statements, this is the
result of approximately $17.8 million in debt reductions and $3.2 million in new debt issues.
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Outstanding Debt as of September 30,2017
(in millions of dollars)

Total
Governmental Business-type Primary
Activities Activities Government
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Bonds - Limited Tax Authority $407.8  $426.8 § 282 § 268 $436.0 $453.6
Total Bonds $407.8 $426.8 $ 282 $§ 268 $436.0 $453.6
Notes - Limited Tax Authority $ - § - $§ 250 $ 250 $ 250 § 250
Total Outstanding Debt $407.8 $426.8 $§ 532 § 518 $461.0 §478.6
Drainage Total
Districts County
Component Unit Commitment
2017 2016 2017 2016
Bonds - Limited Tax Authority $250.2 $264.7 $ 6862 $§ 7183
Total Bonds $250.2 $264.7 $ 6862 $ 7183
Notes - Limited Tax Authority $ - $ - $§ 250 $ 250
Total Outstanding Debt $250.2  $264.7 $ 7112 § 7433
Debt Limit (10% of SEV) $6,900.8 $6,508.5
Available Statutory Debt Limit $6,189.6 $5,765.2

Oakland County issued approximately $17.9 million in general government and business-type activity
debt in fiscal year 2017. Of this total, $7.4 million represents Michigan Bond Authority — Sewage
Disposal debt draws for the Evergreen Farmington Sewage Disposal System Middlebelt Transport and
Tunnel project. In addition, $7.3 million of general government debt for Sewage Disposal Act 342 bonds
includes $4.8 million for Bloomfield Township’s costs for the North Evergreen Interceptor Project that
incorporates the Amy Pump Station and Quarton Road Storage System improvements under the
Evergreen Farmington Sewage Disposal System, $1.5 million that was issued for the Village of Franklin
Sanitary Sewage Collection and Disposal System for technology enhancements to the existing alarm
systems, and $1.0 million for the issuance of a second series of bonds for the Evergreen Farmington
Sewage Disposal System Middlebelt Transport and Tunnel project. Finally, $3.2 million reflects the
County’s use of State Revolving Fund loans for business-type activity related to Pontiac Water Supply
System capital improvements.

The Drainage Districts component unit issued $3.2 million in new debt during fiscal year 2017. Of this
amount, $2.6 million reflects new drain bonds for the Dan Devine Drainage District and the Heron Drain
Drainage District projects. The remaining $600,000 includes draws of State Revolving Fund loans for the
Oakland Macomb Interceptor Drainage District construction project. The Oakland Macomb Interceptor
Drainage District is a Chapter 21 Drainage District under Act 40 of the Public Acts of 1956, as amended.
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Chapter 21 Drainage Districts are Inter-County Drains that involve more than one (1) county. The
Oakland Macomb Interceptor Drainage District involves Oakland County (48.5%) and Macomb County
(51.5%) with each county pledging its full faith and credit, as a secondary obligor, for their respective
communities. These bonds are paid by assessments levied against the benefiting municipalities.

Finally, $25.0 million in limited taxing authority notes related to the Delinquent Tax Revolving Fund was
issued, representing the same amount issued in the previous fiscal year. These notes are routinely paid off
within a year of issuance.

During fiscal year 2017, $35.5 million in outstanding general government debt was paid, primarily
reflecting the retirement of Retirees Health Care bonds of $23.0 million, the retirement of various water
and sewer bonds/refunding bonds of $4.4 million, and retirement of Building Authority bonds/refunding
bonds of $8.1 million.

A more detailed discussion of the County’s long-term debt obligations is presented in Note 8 to the
financial statements.

Bond Ratings Limitations on Debt
The County’s general obligations are rated State statute limits the County’s debt
AAA by Standards and Poor’s and Aaa by obligations to 10 percent of the current state
Moody’s Investors Services Incorporated. equalized value (SEV). The County’s SEV
as of September 30, 2017 was $69.0 billion.
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ECONOMIC OUTLOOK

Oakland County’s economy is continuing to improve. As is detailed in the Transmittal Letter preceding
this Management’s Discussion and Analysis, the County’s unemployment rate has fallen to 3.5 percent
(2017 average) and employment is projected to grow by approximately 44,300 new jobs over the next
three years.

The improvement in the economic outlook should positively impact the County’s fiscal stability; this is
already being evidenced through revised estimates of the value of property located within the County’s
borders. The current budgeted projections assume an increase in state taxable value of property within
Oakland County borders of 5.0 percent for December 2017; an additional 5.0 percent increase for
December 2018; and an additional 4.5 percent increase by December 2019. Market value of property is
projected to be even higher. Every 1.0 percent increase in taxable value adds approximately $2.2 million
to the County’s revenue.

The initiatives taken by the County’s Elected Officials and Administration have resulted in structural
reductions of county expenses as well as generating additional fund balance in excess of the 20 percent of
annual operating expenditures targeted fund balance level. The planned draw down of excess equity
provides additional time to achieve structural balance while maintaining target fund balance levels. On
September 28, 2017, the Oakland County Board of Commissioners adopted a balanced budget for fiscal
years 2018, 2019, and 2020 (through September 30, 2020). That document also includes official estimates
for fiscal years 2021 and 2022.

CONTACTING THE COUNTY’S DEPARTMENT OF MANAGEMENT AND BUDGET

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, investors, and creditors
with a general overview of the County’s finances and to demonstrate the County’s accountability for the
money it receives. If there are questions about this report, or a need for additional information, contact
the Department of Management and Budget, Fiscal Services Division at (248) 858-0940.
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County of Oakland
Statement of Net Position
September 30, 2017

Assets
Current assets
Pooled cash and investments
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables (net of allowance for
uncollectibles where applicable)
Current property taxes
Delinquent property taxes
Special assessments
Due from other governmental units
Due from primary government
Due from component units
Accrued interest receivable
Accounts receivable
Contracts receivable
Internal balances - footnote 19
Inventories and supplies
Prepayments and other assets

Total current assets

Noncurrent assets

Special assessments receivable

Pension asset

OPEB asset

Capital assets, net
Land and other nondepreciable assets
Land improvements, net
Buildings and improvements, net
Equipment and vehicles, net
Infrastructure, net

Total capital assets, net
Total noncurrent assets

Total assets

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred outflows related to pension

Total deferred outflows of
resources

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

Primary Government

Business-
Governmental Type Component
Activities Activities Totals Units

$ 469,317,435 $392,192,924 § 861,510,359 $ 50,325,502
- - - 67,799,056
20,244,803 - 20,244,803 -
595,413 50,547,833 51,143,246 -

- - - 5,727,905
20,644,920 17,964,412 38,609,332 5,697,926
- - - 567

941,033 156,600 1,097,633 -
1,758,473 3,091,527 4,850,000 159,838
2,428,263 39,849,238 42,277,501 16,361,150
64,427,592 1,294,265 65,721,857 -
656,124 (656,124) - -
1,821,771 408,780 2,230,551 4,676,522
8,300,260 2,655,810 10,956,070 2,157,323
591,136,087 507,505,265 1,098,641,352 152,905,789
63,832,839 - 63,832,839 212,044,379
22,497,565 - 22,497,565 -
261,360,097 - 261,360,097 -
24,082,215 168,044,596 192,126,811 324,753,869
264,540 7,590,916 7,855,456 853,608
147,085,787 56,865,228 203,951,015 57,633,735
32,608,385 11,451,944 44,060,329 11,006,633
15,411,609 82,912,625 98,324,234  1,074,887,378
219,452,536 326,865,309 546,317,845 1,469,135,223
567,143,037 326,865,309 894,008,346  1,681,179,602
1,158,279,124 834,370,574 1,992,649,698  1,834,085,391
- - - 22,885,945

- - - 22,885,945
(continued)
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Statement of Net Position (Continued)

September 30, 2017

Liabilities

Current liabilities
Vouchers payable
Accrued payroll

Due to other governmental units

Due to primary government
Due to component units
Accrued interest payable

Other accrued liabilities
Accrued compensated absences
Unearned revenue

Claims and judgments

Bonds and notes payable

Total current liabilities

Noncurrent liabilities
Accrued compensated absences
Claims and judgments
Net pension liability
Net OPEB obligation
Bonds and notes payable

Total noncurrent liabilities

Total liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Deferred Inflows related to pension

Deferred Inflows related to OPEB

Total deferred inflows of

resources

Net Position
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for
Property tax forfeiture
Public safety
Citizens services
Public works
Justice Administration
Commerce and community
development
Debt service
Airports
Community water and sewer
Unrestricted

Total net position

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

Primary Government

Business-
Governmental Type Component

Activities Activities Totals Units
$ 25554762 $ 6,379,168 31,933,930 10,326,404
6,429,450 - 6,429,450 -
900,412 14,787,039 15,687,451 13,365,156
- - - 1,097,633
567 - 567 -
403,653 159,722 563,375 -
27,912,031 11,012,531 38,924,562 6,322,735
1,257,022 - 1,257,022 -
54,424,795 1,949,835 56,374,630 38,229,125
4,725,665 - 4,725,665 409,050
35,080,000 26,801,000 61,881,000 17,899,000
156,688,357 61,089,295 217,777,652 87,649,103
11,313,196 - 11,313,196 2,857,000
12,011,574 - 12,011,574 418,430
- - - 45,492,165
- - - 33,613,147
372,700,895 26,456,164 399,157,059 232,265,732
396,025,665 26,456,164 422,481,829 314,646,474
552,714,022 87,545,459 640,259,481 402,295,577
12,184,257 - 12,184,257 2,853,168
47,146,838 - 47,146,838 -
59,331,095 - 59,331,095 2,853,168
168,617,536 298,608,145 467,225,681 1,218,970,491
10,401,084 - 10,401,084 -
8,041,607 - 8,041,607 -
1,935,079 - 1,935,079 -
4,016,170 - 4,016,170 19,736,345
1,561,198 1,561,198 -
8,185,367 - 8,185,367 -
6,812,015 - 6,812,015 183,297,678
- 17,900 17,900 -
- 96,481,121 96,481,121 -
336,663,951 351,717,949 688,381,900 29,818,077

§ 546,234,007

$ 746,825,115

1,293,059,122

1,451,822,591
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Statement of Activities
Year Ended September 30, 2017

Program Revenues

Charges for

Operating
Grants and

Capital
Grants and

Net Revenue

Expenses Services Contributions Contributions (Expense)
Functions/Programs
Primary government
Governmental activities
General government, administrative =~ $ 7,210,199 § 28,420,204 $ 614,012 $ 161,669 $ 21,985,686
Public safety 198,159,722 65,792,333 18,934,764 - (113,432,625)
Justice administration 91,193,006 31,447,605 854,996 - (58,890,405)
Citizen services 80,436,567 9,315,993 15,028,275 - (56,092,299)
Public works 44,539,179 30,265,391 400,203 2,158,419 (11,715,166)
Recreation and leisure 1,368,297 16,046 7,004 - (1,345,247)
Commerce and community
development 42,558,106 21,023,719 19,855,509 - (1,678,878)
Unallocated depreciation 3,825,781 - - - (3,825,781)
Interest on debt 3,568,860 - - - (3,568,860)
Total governmental activities 472,859,717 186,281,291 55,694,763 2,320,088 (228,563,575)
Business-type activities
Airports 6,587,495 4,671,073 96,254 995,851 (824,317)
Community safety support 19,648,350 13,775,015 - - (5,873,335)
Community tax financing 970,801 13,613,000 - - 12,642,199
Community water and sewer 85,734,595 95,595,194 339,060 227,084 10,426,743
Recreation and leisure 25,050,628 10,022,384 80,928 82,700 (14,864,616)
Sewage disposal systems 138,073,377 138,190,001 1,197,809 14,654,105 15,968,538
Total business-type activities 276,065,246 275,866,667 1,714,051 15,959,740 17,475,212
Total primary government $748,924,963  $462,147,958 $57,408,814 $18,279,828 $(211,088,363)
Component units
Drainage districts $107,840,196 $ 90,639,289 $§ 816,115 $25,507,568 9,122,776
Road commission 128,272,170 16,209,360 85,597,721 39,192,171 12,727,082
Total component units $236,112,366  $106,848,649 $86,413,836 $64,699,739 § 21,849,858
(continued)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statement of Activities (Continued)
Year Ended September 30, 2017

Primary Government

Business-
Governmental Type Component
Activities Activities Totals Units
Changes in net position
Net (expense) revenue $ (228,563,575) $ 17,475,212 $ (211,088,363) $ 21,849,858
General revenues
Taxes
Property taxes 221,228,539 12,393,806 233,622,345 -
State-shared revenue (unrestricted) 44,185,407 271,123 44,456,530 -
Unrestricted investment earnings 3,417,064 4,440,196 7,857,260 1,210,784
Gain on sale of capital assets 407,829 - 407,829 -
Other revenues 1,808,840 - 1,808,840 -
Special item - Transfer of water system
to Oakland Township - (15,195,838) (15,195,838) -
Transfers in (out) 15,250,989 (15,250,989) - -
Total general revenues and
trans fers 286,298,668 (13,341,702) 272,956,966 1,210,784
Change in net position 57,735,093 4,133,510 61,868,603 23,060,642
Net position
Beginning (as restated, see Note 21) 488,498,914 742,691,605 1,231,190,519 1,428,761,949
Ending $ 546,234,007 $ 746,825,115 $ 1,293,059,122 $ 1,451,822,591

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Major Funds

General Fund - The General Fund is the general operating fund of the County. It is used to account for
all financial resources except those required to be accounted for in another fund.

Building Authority Debt Act 31 Fund - This fund was established to accumulate the resources for the
payment of bonded debt issued for the construction of, or improvement to, various facilities. The fund
also includes debt issued as assistance in obtaining favorable lending rates for other units of government
within the County.

Water and Sewer Debt Act 342 Fund - This fund was established to account for the accumulation of

resources, mainly special assessments, for the payment of bonded debt issued for the construction of
water and sewer systems under Public Act 342 of 1939.

Non-Major Funds
Non-major governmental funds are presented, by fund type, in the following sections:
Special revenue funds

Debt service funds
Capital projects funds



County of Oakland
Balance Sheet
Governmental Funds
September 30, 2017

Assets
Pooled cash and investments

Receivables (net of allowance for uncollectibles

where applicable)
Current property taxes
Delinquent property taxes
Due from other governmental units
Due from component units
Accrued interest receivable
Accounts receivable
Contracts receivable
Special assessments receivable

Due fromother funds

Advances receivable

Inventories

Prepayments and other assets

Total assets
Liabilities

Vouchers payable

Accrued payroll

Due to other governmental units

Due to other funds

Advances payable

Unearned revenue

Other accrued liabilities

Total liabilities
Deferred Inflows of Resources

Unavailable revenue-property taxes

Unavailable revenue-special assessments

Unavailable revenue-grants

Unavailable revenue-contracts receivable

Unavailable revenue-other

Total deferred inflows of resources

Fund Balances
Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned
Total fund balances

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources,

and fund balances

Major Funds
Building ‘Water and
Authority Sewer
Debt Debt
General Act 31 Act 342
253,985,406 $ 6,011,264 $ 219,631
20,244,803 - -
595,413 - -
9,729,655 - -
20,359 - -
683,084 12,607 314
338,692 734,817 -
49,209,392 12,135,000 -
- - 61,980,727
10,260,063 - -
131,944 - -
221,180 - -
345,419,991 $ 18,893,688 $ 62,200,672
10,181,134 $ - $ 202,588
6,429,450 - -
415,922 - -
1,021,481 - -
45,154,961 - 4,489,832
5,964,176 - 1,237
69,167,124 - 4,693,657
11,409,918 - -
- - 57,490,895
62,862 - -
- 12,135,000 -
11,472,780 12,135,000 57,490,895
353,124 - -
10,401,084 6,758,688 16,120
251,021,647 - -
3,004,232 - -
264,780,087 6,758,688 16,120
345,419,991 $ 18,893,688 $ 62,200,672

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Balance Sheet (Continued)
Governmental Funds
September 30, 2017

Totals
Non-Major September 30,
Funds 2017
Assets
Pooled cash and investments $ 76,230,971 $ 336,447,272
Receivables (net of allowance for uncollectibles
where applicable)
Current property taxes - 20,244,803
Delinquent property taxes - 595,413
Due from other governmental units 10,704,982 20,434,637
Due from component units 883,299 903,658
Accrued interest receivable 124,551 820,556
Accounts receivable 203,006 1,276,515
Contracts receivable 3,083,200 64,427,592
Special assessments receivable 1,852,112 63,832,839
Due from other funds 1,651,914 11,911,977
Advances receivable 1,032,021 1,032,021
Inventories - 131,944
Prepayments and other assets 1,911,703 2,132,883
Total assets $ 97,677,759 $ 524,192,110
Liabilities
Vouchers payable $ 5,660,732 $ 16,044,454
Accrued payroll - 6,429,450
Due to other governmental units 118,107 534,029
Due to other funds 11,168,716 12,190,197
Advances payable 1,032,021 1,032,021
Unearned revenue 4,182,089 53,826,882
Other accrued liabilities 15,581,720 21,547,133
Total liabilities 37,743,385 111,604,166
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unavailable revenue-property taxes - 11,409,918
Unavailable revenue-special assessments 1,852,112 59,343,007
Unavailable revenue-grants 2,910,500 2,973,362
Unavailable revenue-contracts receivable 2,950,000 15,085,000
Unavailable revenue-other 1,359,467 1,359,467
Total deferred inflows of resources 9,072,079 90,170,754
Fund balances
Nonspendable 1,150,421 1,503,545
Restricted 19,443,799 36,619,691
Committed 33,562,352 33,562,352
Assigned - 251,021,647
Unassigned (3,294,277) (290,045)
Total fund balances 50,862,295 322,417,190
T otal liabilities, deferred inflows of resources,
and fund balances $ 97,677,759 $ 524,192,110

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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County of Oakland

Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet — Governmental Funds
to the Statement of Net Position
September 30, 2017

Total fund balances for governmental funds $322,417,190

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of
Net Position are different because:
Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial
resources and therefore are not reported in the funds.
Land, not being depreciated $ 7,235,551
Construction in progress, not being depreciated 10,369,383
Land improvements, net of $1,135,601 depreciation 264,540
Buildings and improvements, net of $118,448,688 depreciation 145,271,685
Equipment and vehicles, net of $24,145,210 depreciation 13,261,537
Infrastructure, net of $16,108,935 depreciation 15,325,658

191,728,354
Internal service funds are used by management to charge the

cost of certain activities, such as insurance and
telecommunications, to individual funds. The assets and liabilities
of the internal service funds are included in governmental
activities in the Statement of Net Position.

Property tax revenues in the Statement of Activities that do
not provide current financial resources are deferred and not
reported as revenue in the funds.

67,327,670

10,814,505
Long-term receivables such as special assessments and contracts

receivable are expected to be collected over several years and are
deferred in the governmental funds and are not available to pay for
current year expenditures.

Long-term bonded debt is not due and payable in the current
period and therefore is not reported in the funds. Unamortized
premiums, loss on refundings, and interest payable are not
reported in the funds. However, these amounts are included in
the Statement of Net Position. This is the net effect of these
balances on the statement:

Bonds and notes payable
Accrued interest payable

78,760,836

(124,410,895)
(403,653)

(124,814,548)
Net position of governmental activities $546,234,007

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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County of Oakland

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances

Governmental Funds
Year Ended September 30, 2017

Revenues

Taxes

Special assessments
Federal grants

State grants

Other intergovernmental revenues
Charges for services
Contributions
Investment income
Indirect cost recovery
Other

Total revenues

Expenditures
Current operations
County Executive
Clerk/Register of Deeds
Treasurer
Justice administration
Law enforcement
Legislative
Water Resource Commissioner
Non-departmental
Total current operations

Capital outlay
Intergovernmental
Debt service
Principal payments
Interest and fiscal charges
Total expenditures

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
(under) expenditures
Other financing sources (uses)

Transfers in

Transfers out

Insurance recoveries

Issurance of bonds

Premiums on bonds sold
Total other financing sources (uses)
Net change in fund balances

Fund balances
October 1, 2016
September 30, 2017

Major Funds
Building Water and
Authority Sewer
Debt Debt
General Act 31 Act 342
$ 216,562,738 $ - $ -
- 1,086,129 4,295,377
786,217 - -
4,851,589 - -
46,362,094 - -
118,479,071 925 1,500
47,158 - -
1,763,738 75,106 2,786
8,216,061 - -
579,465 - -
397,648,131 1,162,160 4,299,663
90,383,793 1,000 -
9,022,140 - -
8,103,102 - -
53,633,162 - -
164,679,877 - -
4,172,103 - -
6,376,179 - -
21,568,122 - -
357,938,478 1,000 -
1,206,153 - -
- - 6,000
- 3,150,000 3,040,000
- 1,224,304 1,258,127
359,144,631 4,375,804 4,304,127
38,503,500 (3,213,644) (4,464)
13,266,297 2,244,500 -
(42,231,178) - -
(28,964,881) 2,244,500 -
9,538,619 (969,144) (4,464)
255,241,468 7,727,832 20,584
$ 264,780,087 $ 6,758,688 $ 16,120

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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County of Oakland

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures,

(Continued)
Governmental Funds
Year Ended September 30, 2017

and Changes in Fund Balances

Revenues

Taxes

Special assessments
Federal grants

State grants

Other intergovernmental revenues
Charges for services
Contributions
Investment income
Indirect cost recovery
Other

Total revenues

Expenditures
Current operations
County Executive
Clerk/Register of Deeds
Treasurer
Justice administration
Law enforcement
Legislative
Water Resource Commissioner
Non-departmental
Total current operations
Capital outlay
Intergovernmental
Debt service
Principal payments
Interest and fiscal charges
Total expenditures

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
(under) expenditures
Other financing sources (uses)

Transfers in

Transfers out

Insurance recoveries

Issuance of bonds

Premiums on bonds sold

Total other financing sources (uses)
Net change in fund balances

Fund balances

October 1, 2016

September 30, 2017

Totals
Non-Major September 30,
Funds 2017
$ - $ 216,562,738
4,638,551 10,020,057
27,736,187 28,522,404
21,957,339 26,308,928
12,183,868 58,545,962
12,710,276 131,191,772
102,283 149,441
388,773 2,230,403
- 8,216,061
816,428 1,395,893
80,533,705 483,643,659
64,024,701 154,409,494
1,862,101 10,884,241
- 8,103,102
23,876,303 77,509,465
7,780,786 172,460,663
- 4,172,103
18,044,254 24,420,433
- 21,568,122
115,588,145 473,527,623
26,875,904 28,082,057
6,500 12,500
4,495,000 10,685,000
1,143,700 3,626,631
148,109,249 515,933,811
(67,575,544) (32,290,152)
45,340,134 60,850,931
(9,906,641) (52,137,819)
765,010 765,010
14,732,205 14,732,205
18,510 18,510
50,949,218 24,228,837
(16,626,326) (8,061,315)
67,488,621 330,478,505
$ 50,862,295 $ 322,417,190

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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County of Oakland

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund
Balances — Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities

Year Ended September 30, 2017

Net change in fund balance - total governmental funds

Governmental funds report capital outlay as expenditures.
However, in the Statement of Activities, the cost of those assets

is allocated over their estimated useful lives as depreciation expense.

This is the amount by which capital outlays exceeded depreciation
in the current period.

Construction in progress
Buildings and improvements
Equipment and vehicles
Infrastructure

Depreciation expense

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the

costs of certain activities, such as insurance and telecommunications,
to individual funds. The net revenue (expense) of the internal

service funds is reported with governmental activities.

Property tax revenues in the Statement of Activities that do
not provide current financial resources are deferred and not
reported as revenue in the funds.

Prior year's deferral

Current year deferral

Revenues from special assessments and contracts receivable
reported in the Statement of Activities in previous years did not
provide current financial resources in the governmental funds
until the current year.

Bond proceeds provide current financial resources to governmental
funds by issuing debt which increases long-term bonded debt in
the Statement of Net Position. Repayment of bond principal is an
expenditure in the governmental funds, but the repayment reduces
long-term bonded debt in the Statement of Net Position. This is the
amount proceeds exceed repayments.

Bond proceeds

Repayment of bond principal

Accrued interest

Change in net position of governmental activities

$ (8,061,315)

$ (3,006,437)

16,443,177
4,197,443
3,922,855
(9.144,738)
12,412,300
42,578,724
(6,148,704)
10,814,505
4,665,801
10,146,972
(14,732,205)
10,685,000
39,816
(4,007.389)
3 57,735,093

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Proprietary Fund Financial Statements

Major Funds

Parks and Recreation Fund - This fund is used to account for revenues earmarked for the operation of
the County’s 13 parks, including campgrounds, day-use and dog parks, five golf courses, 65 miles of
trails, two waterparks, nature centers and banquet facilities, and management of the Oakland County
Market. Principal revenue is from a voter-approved millage and user charges.

Delinquent Tax Revolving Fund - This fund is used to account for money advanced by the County to
cities, townships, villages and County funds for unpaid property taxes, and the subsequent collections of
delinquencies from taxpayers.

The County Airports Fund - This fund was established to account for operations of the County’s
Oakland County International, Oakland/Troy, and Oakland/Southwest airports. Revenue is primarily
derived from leases, hangar rentals, landing fees, and other rental or service charges. Capital costs are
financed primarily from issuance of debt or state and federal capital grants.

Water and Sewer Trust Fund - This fund is used to account for monies received from those County
residents whose water and sewer systems are maintained for their respective city, villages, or townships
by Oakland County.

Evergreen-Farmington S.D.S. (Sewage Disposal System) Fund - This fund was established to record
the operations and maintenance of the system, which is used to move sewage to the Great Lakes Water
Authority for treatment. Costs are recovered by developing rates and billing the municipalities being
serviced or issuance of debt.

Southeastern Oakland County S.D.S. (S.0.C.S.D.S.) Fund - This fund was established to record the
operations and maintenance of the system, which is used to move sewage and storm water to the Great
Lakes Water Authority for treatment. Costs are recovered by developing rates and billing the
municipalities being serviced.

Clinton-Oakland S.D.S. (Sewage Disposal System) Fund - This fund was established to record the
operations and maintenance of the system, which is used to move sewage to the Great Lakes Water

Authority for treatment. Costs are recovered by developing rates and billing the municipalities being
serviced.

Non-Major Funds
Non-major proprietary funds are presented, by fund type, in the following sections:

Internal service funds
Enterprise funds



County of Oakland
Statement of Net Position
Proprietary Funds
September 30, 2017

Assets

Current assets
Pooled cash and investments
Delinquent property taxes receivable
Due from other governmental units
Due from component units
Accrued interest receivable

Accounts receivable (net of allowance for

uncollectibles where applicable)
Due from other funds
Current portion of contracts receivable
Current portion of advances receivable
Inventories and supplies
Prepayments and other assets
Total current assets
Noncurrent assets
Advances receivable
Net pension asset
Net OPEB asset
Capital assets, net
Land and other nondepreciable assets
Land improvements, net
Building and improvements, net
Equipment and vehicles, net
Infrastructure, net
Total capital assets
Total noncurrent assets

Total assets

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Major
Water and Evergreen-
Parks and Delinquent County Sewer Farmington
Recreation Tax Revolving Airports Trust SDS

$ 24732625 § 159,511,509 § 15825063 $ 85704,140 § 12,785,547
- 50,547,833 - - -

33,616 1,104,376 600 2,870,311 3,958,519

- - - - 156,600

33,898 1,911,742 103,733 226,188 144,691
342,730 9,830,454 283,437 27,869,529 120,000

- - - 165 -

- - 1,294,265 - -

- 12,883 - - -

124,070 - - - -
2,855 333 - 661,068 -
25,269,794 222919,130 17,507,098 117,331,401 17,165,357
- 38,649 - - -

31,864,600 - 36,715,610 19,790,238 55,848,390
- - 7,104,958 1,477 484,481

18,888,588 - 21,406,919 981,269 11,650,364
1,337,847 - 562,230 3,173,878 421,211
15,233,837 - 2,605,757 39,727,678 8,228,718
67,324,872 - 68,395,474 63,674,540 76,633,164
67,324,872 38,649 68,395,474 63,674,540 76,633,164
92,594,666 222.957,779 85,002,572 181,005,941 93,798,521
(continued)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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County of Oakland

Statement of Net Position (Continued)

Proprietary Funds
September 30, 2017

Assets
Current assets
Pooled cash and investments
Delinquent property taxes
Due from other governmental units
Due from component units
Accrued interest receivable
Accounts receivable (net of allowance for
uncollectibles where applicable)
Due from other funds
Current portion of contracts receivable
Current portion of advances receivable
Inventories and supplies
Prepayments and other assets
Total current assets
Noncurrent assets
Advances receivable
Net pension asset
Net OPEB asset
Capital assets, net
Land and other nondepreciable assets
Land improvements, net
Building and improvements, net
Equipment and vehicles, net
Infrastructure, net
Total capital assets
Total noncurrent assets
Total assets

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Major
Governmental
Activities -
Totals Internal
Clinton- Non-Major  September 30, Service
S.0.C.S.D.S. Oakland S.D.S. Funds 2017 Funds
$ 410298905 $ 9,536,176 $ 43,067,969 $§ 392,192,924 § 132,870,163
- - - 50,547,833 -
4,852,696 3,613,619 1,530,675 17,964,412 210,283
- - - 156,600 37,375
232,565 156,680 282,030 3,091,527 937,917
33,301 450 1,369,337 39,849,238 1,151,748
- - 36,894 37,059 1,036,371
- - - 1,294,265 -
- - - 12,883 -
- - 284,710 408,780 1,689,827
476,286 - 1,515,268 2,655,810 6,167,377
46,624,743 13,306,925 48,086,883 508,211,331 144,101,061
- - - 38,649 -
- - - - 22,497,565
- - - - 261,360,097
3,288,050 14,767,766 5,769,942 168,044,596 6,477,281
- - - 7,590,916 -
45441 194,699 3,697,948 56,865,228 1,814,102
153,251 276,878 5,526,649 11,451,944 19,346,848
1,091,927 13,063,143 2,961,565 82,912,625 85,951
4,578,669 28,302,486 17,956,104 326,865,309 27,724,182
4,578,669 28,302,486 17,956,104 326,903,958 311,581,844
51,203,412 41,609,411 66,042,987 835,115,289 455,682,905
(continued)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

56



County of Oakland

Statement of Net Position (Continued)

Proprietary Funds
Year Ended September 30, 2017

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Vouchers payable
Due to other governmental units
Due to component unit
Due to other funds
Unearned revenue
Notes payable
Accrued interest payable
Current portion of bonds payable
Current portion of accrued compensated absences
Current portion of claims and judgments
Current portion of advances payable
Other accrued liabilities
Total current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities
Bonds payable
Accrued compensated absences
Claims and judgments
Advances payable
Total noncurrent liabilities
Total liabilities
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred inflows related to pension
Deferred inflows related to OPEB
Total deferred inflows of resources
Net position
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for programs
Unrestricted
Total net position

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Major

‘Water and Evergreen-
Parks and Delinquent County Sewer Farmington

Recreation Tax Revolving Airports Trust SDS
$ 1,015905 $ 77,942 $ 42,244 $ 3,133,580 $ 1,460,167
242 314,368 - 31,198 5,758,035
- - - 450,976 94,198
96,388 - 1,556,519 - -
- 25,000,000 - - -
- 159,722 - - -
- - 650,000 886,000 265,000
163,638 43,129 469,289 6,259,390 1,972,185
1,276,173 25,595,161 2,718,052 10,761,144 9,549,585
- - 6,285,000 15,321,164 4,850,000
- - 6,285,000 15,321,164 4,850,000
1,276,173 25,595,161 9,003,052 26,082,308 14,399,585
67,324,872 - 61,460,474 47,467,376 71,518,164
- - 17,900 58,154,746 5,003,582
23,993,621 197,362,618 15,421,146 49,301,511 2,877,190
$91,318,493 $197,362,618  $ 76,899,520  $154,923,633  $ 79,398,936

(continued)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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County of Oakland
Statement of Net Position (Cont
Proprietary Funds

Year Ended September 30, 2017

inued)

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Liabilities

Current liabilities
Vouchers payable
Due to other governmental units
Due to component unit
Due to other funds
Unearned revenue
Notes payable
Accrued interest payable
Current portion of bonds payable
Current portion of accrued compensated absences
Current portion of claims and judgments
Current portion of advances payable
Other accrued liabilities

Total current liabilities

Noncurrent liabilities
Bonds payable
Accrued compensated absences
Claims and judgments
Advances payable

Total noncurrent liabilities

Total liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred inflows related to pension
Deferred inflows related to OPEB

Total deferred inflows of resources

Net position

Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for programs
Unrestricted

Total net position

Major
Governmental
Activities -
Totals Internal

Clinton- Non-Major September 30, Service

S.0.C.S.D.S. Oakland S.D.S. Funds 2017 Funds
$ 365277 $ 53,467 $ 230,586 $ 6,379,168 $ 9,510,308
7,650,332 108,742 924,122 14,787,039 366,383
- - - - 567
129,037 62,991 7,513 744,715 50,495
- - 296,928 1,949,835 2,500
- - - 25,000,000 -
- - - 159,722 -
- - - 1,801,000 23,870,000
- - - - 1,257,022
- - - - 4,725,665
- - - - 12,883
740,246 128,320 1,236,334 11,012,531 6,364,898
8,884,892 353,520 2,695,483 61,834,010 46,160,721
- - - 26,456,164 259,500,000
- - - - 11,313,196
- - - - 12,011,574
- - - - 38,649
- - - 26,456,164 282,863,419
8,884,892 353,520 2,695,483 88,290,174 329,024,140
- - - - 12,184,257
- - - - 47,146,838
- - - - 59,331,095
4,578,669 28,302,486 17,956,104 298,608,145 27,724,182
16,552,663 10,643,950 6,126,180 96,499,021 -
21,187,188 2,309,455 39,265,220 351,717,949 39,603,488
$42,318,520  $ 41,255,891 $ 63,347,504  $746,825,115 $ 67,327,670

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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County of Oakland

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

Proprietary Funds

Year Ended September 30, 2017

Operating revenues
Charges for services
Other

Total operating revenues

Operating expenses
Salaries

Fringe benefits

Fringe benefits - pension
Fringe benefits - OPEB
Contractual services
Commodities
Depreciation

Internal services
Intergovernmental

Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)

Nonoperating revenues (expenses)
Property taxes
Local community stabilization share
Contributions
Interest recovery - federal grants
Interest revenue
Interest expense
Premiums on bonds sold
Gain on sale of property
and equipment
Total nonoperating revenues
(expenses)
Income (loss) before transfers
and contributions
Transfers and contributions
Capital contributions
Transfers in
Transfers out

Total transfers and contributions

Special item
Transfer of water system to
Oakland Township

Change in net position
Net position

October 1, 2016 (as Restated, see Note 21)

September 30, 2017

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Major
Water and Evergreen-
Parks and Delinquent County Sewer Farmington
Recreation  Tax Revolving Airports Trust SDS

9957,748  $ 13,086297 § 466899 $§ 94798816 $ 41,635,644
41,948 741 2,077 947,295 537,630
9,999,696 13,087,038 4,671,073 95,746,111 42,173,274
9,025,079 105,886 1,151,685 109,622 -
3,044,442 73,402 657,016 70,396 -
6,313,586 273,096 1,546,869 43,542,952 39,187,310
1,607,558 - 121,327 2,065,417 39,521
3,636,023 - 2,603,048 2,195,901 1,016,854
1,423,940 1,907 212,181 22,568,755 1,627,933

- - - 14,817,954 -
25,050,628 454,291 6,292,126 85,370,997 41,871,618
(15,050,932) 12,632,747 (1,621,053) 10,375,114 301,656
12,393,806 - - - -
271,123 - - - -
80,928 - - 339,060 851,617

- - 96,254 - 86,640

314,362 1,479,370 198,032 986,839 165,552
- (225,648) (295,369) (363,598) (257,429)

- 248,750 - - -

22,688 - - (150,917) -
13,082,907 1,502,472 (1,083) 811,384 846,380
(1,968,025) 14,135,219 (1,622,136) 11,186,498 1,148,036
82,700 - 995,851 227,084 14,648,106

- (16,964,594) - (367,539) -

82,700 (16,964,594) 995,851 (140,455) 14,648,106

- - - (15,195,838) -
(1,885,325) (2,829,375) (626,285) (4,149,795) 15,796,142
93,203,818 200,191,993 77,525,805 159,073,428 63,602,794
$ 91318493 $§ 197,362,618 $ 76,899,520 $ 154,923,633 $ 79,398,936
(continued)



County of Oakland

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position (Continued)

Proprietary Funds

Year Ended September 30, 2017

Operating revenues
Charges for services
Other

Total operating revenues

Operating expenses
Salaries

Fringe benefits

Fringe benefits - pension
Fringe benefits - OPEB
Contractual services
Commodities
Depreciation

Internal services
Intergovernmental

Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)

Nonoperating revenues (expenses)
Property taxes
Local community stabilization share
Contributions
Interest recovery - federal grants
Interest revenue
Interest expense
Premiums on bonds sold
Gain on sale of property
and equipment
Total nonoperating revenues
(expenses)
Income (loss) before transfers
and contributions
Transfers and contributions
Capital contributions
Transfers in
Transfers out

Total transfers and contributions

Special item
Transfer of water system to
Oakland Township

Change in net position

Net position

October 1, 2016 (as Restated, see Note 21)

September 30, 2017

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Major

Clinton- Non-Major
S.0.C.S.D.S. Oakland S.D.S. Funds

$ 51266602 $ 37807175 § 20,796,091

Totals
September 30,
2017

$ 274,017,369

Governmental
Activities -
Internal
Service
Funds

$ 249910012

805 64 446,540 1,977,100 412,947
51,267,407 37,807,239 21,242,631 275,994,469 250,322,959
. . 2,621,673 13,013,945 39,095,786

. . 1,309,648 5,154,904 23,013,865

. . - - 3,547,700

. . - - (18.459,467)
50,195,309 34816491 13,294,632 189,170,245 140,222,932
155,719 28277 571971 4,589,790 6,511,766
235,086 817,583 7,162,219 17,666,714 6,328,883
1,837,796 930,133 1,857,005 30,459,650 7,209,869
- - 50,000 14,867,954 -
52423910 36,592,484 26,867,148 274923202 207471334
(1,156,503) 1,214,755 (5,624,517) 1,071,267 42,851,625
. - y 12,393,806 -

. . - 271,123 -
225,153 - 34,399 1,531,157 335,029
- - - 182,894 -
380,284 131372 535,635 4,191,446 1,186,661
- - - (1,142,044) (10.981211)

- - - 248,750 -

. . 427 (127,802) 490,324
605,437 131372 570,461 17,549,330 (8.969,197)
(551,066) 1.346,127 (5,054,056) 18,620,597 33,882,428
5,999 - - 15,959,740 2,158419

- - 2,367,144 2,367,144 7417,710

- - (286,000) (17,618,133) (879,833)

5,999 - 2,081,144 708,751 8,696,296

. . - (15,195,838) -
(545,067) 1,346,127 (2972.912) 4,133,510 42,578,724
42,863,587 39,909,764 66,320,416 742,691,605 24,748,946
$ 42318520 $ 41255891 $ 63347504 $ 746825115 $ 67327670

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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County of Oakland

Statement of Cash Flows

Proprietary Funds

Year Ended September 30, 2017

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash received from users

Cash paid to suppliers

Cash paid to employees

Net cash provided by (used in)

operating activities

Cash flows from noncapital financing

activities
Transfers from other funds
Transfers to other funds
Local community stabilization share
Contributions
Interest recovery - federal grants
Principal paid on debt
Interest paid on debt
Purchase of delinquent property taxes
Delinquent property taxes collected
Issuance of short-term borrowings
Repayments received on advances
Premiums on bonds sold
Property taxes
Interest paid on short-term borrowings
Payments on short-term borrowings

Net cash provided by (used in)
noncapital financing activities

Cash flows from capital and related
financing activities

Contributions for capital acquisitions

Proceeds from sale of bonds

Transfers from other funds

Proceeds from sale of capital assets

Acquisition of capital assets

Principal paid on debt

Interest paid on debt

Amount paid on advances

Interest paid on advances

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Net cash provided by (used in) capital

and related financing activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest on investments

Net cash provided by investing

activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash

and cash equivalents
Pooled cash and investments
October 1, 2016
September 30, 2017

Major
Water and Evergreen-
Parks and Delinquent County Sewer Farmington
Recreation Tax Revolving Airports Trust SDS

$ 9,748989 § 15444908 $§ 4695559 § 102,124,048 § 40,987,034
(11,806,715) (348,405) (2,577,267) (80,748,238) (37,841,125)
(9,025,079) (105,886) (1,151,685) (109,622) -
(11,082,805) 14,990,617 966,607 21,266,188 3,145,909

- (16,964,594) - (367,539) -

271,123 - - - -
80,928 - - 339,060 851,617

- - 96,254 - 86,640

- (66,517,083) - - -

- 71,671,512 - - -

- 25,000,000 - - -

- 12,883 - - -

- 248,750 - - -

12,393,806 - - - -

- (98,519) - - -

- (25,000,000) - - -

12,745,857 (11,647,051) 96,254 (28479 938,257
82,700 - - - -

- - - 3,452,495 -

26,790 - - 11,151 -
(1,385,199) - (402,855) (6,818,724) (6,604,360)
- - (615,000) (900,600) (260,000)
- - (295,369) (363,598) (257,429)
(1,275,709) - (1,313,224) (4,619,276) (7,121,789)
298,458 1,156,232 167,357 832,762 139,165
298,458 1,156,232 167,357 832,762 139,165
685,801 4,499,798 (83,006) 17,451,195 (2,898,458)
24,046,824 155,011,711 15,908,069 68,252,945 15,684,005

$ 24732625 $ 159,511,509 $ 15825063 §$ 85,704,140 12,785,547
(continued)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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County of Oakland

Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

Proprietary Funds

Year Ended September 30, 2017

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash received from users
Cash paid to suppliers
Cash paid to employees
Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities
Cash flows from noncapital financing
activities
Transfers from other funds
Transfers to other funds
Local community stabilization share
Contributions
Interest recovery - federal grants
Principal paid on debt
Interest paid on debt
Purchase of delinquent property taxes
Delinquent property taxes collected
Issuance of short-term borrowings
Repayments received on advances
Premiums on bonds sold
Property taxes
Interest paid on short-term borrowings
Payments on short-term borrowings
Net cash provided by (used in)
noncapital financing activities
Cash flows from capital and related
financing activities
Contributions for capital acquisitions
Proceeds from sale of bonds
Transfers from other funds
Proceeds from sale of capital assets
Acquisition of capital assets
Principal paid on debt
Interest paid on debt
Amount paid on advances
Interest paid on advances
Net cash provided by (used in) capital
and related financing activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Interest on investments
Net cash provided by investing
activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash
and cash equivalents
Pooled cash and investments
October 1, 2016

September 30, 2017

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Major
Totals
Clinton- Non-Major September 30,
S.0.C.S.D.S. Oakland S.D.S. Funds 2017

$ 51520401 § 37343509 § 21238514 § 283,102,962

Governme ntal
Activities -
Internal
Service
Funds

$ 250,343,718

(51284004)  (35767,782)  (17128,766)  (237,502302)  (168,965238)
- - (2,621,673) (13013945  (39,095,786)
236,397 1,575,727 1,488,075 32,586,715 42,282,694
- - 2,304,829 2,304,829 5,134,881
- - (286,000)  (17,618,133) (879,833)

- - - 271,123 -
225,153 - - 1,496,758 335,029
- - - 182,894 -
- - - - (23,020,000)
- - - - (10,980,656)

. - - (66,517,083) -

- - - 71,671,512 -

- - - 25,000,000 -

- - - 12,883 -

. - - 248,750 -

- - - 12,393,806 -

- - - (98,519) -

. . - (25,000,000) -
225,153 - 2,018,829 4,348,820 (29,410,579)
5999 - - 88,699 74,500

_ - - 3452495 -

- - 62,315 62,315 2,284,102

- - 427 38,368 672,598
(708.915) (675,620) (1,863,107)  (18458,780) (6,687,710)
- - - (1,775,600) -

- - - (916,396) -
- - - - (12,883)
- - - - (555)
(702.916) (675,620) (1.800365)  (17.508.899) (3.669.948)
303,156 110,819 457,744 3,465,693 955404
303,156 110,819 457,744 3,465,693 955404
61,790 1,010,926 2,164,283 22,892,329 10,157,571
40,968,105 8,525,250 40,903,686 369,300,595 122,712,592

$ 41029895 $ 9536176 $ 43,067,969 $ 392,192,924

$ 132,870,163

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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County of Oakland

Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
Proprietary Funds

Year Ended September 30, 2017

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Major
Water and Evergreen-
Parks and Delinquent County Sewer Farmington
Recreation  Tax Revolving  Airports Trust SDS
Operating (loss) income $  (15050932) $ 12,632,747 $ (1,621,053) $ 10375114 $§ 301,656
Adjustments to reconcile operating (loss) income
to net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities
Depreciation expense 3,636,023 - 2,603,048 2,195,901 1,016,854
(Increase) decrease in due from other
governmental units (1,616) 568,998 - 4,246,886 (971,817)
(Increase) decrease in due from component
units - - - - (94,423)
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable (221,391) 1,790,397 14,627 2,136,373 (120,000)
(Increase) decrease in due from other funds - - - (5,322) -
(Increase) decrease in inventories and supplies (62,862) - - - -
(Increase) decrease in prepayments and other
assets (2,072) - - (4,140) -
(Increase) decrease in net pension asset - - - - -
(Increase) decrease in net OPEB asset - - - - -
(Increase) decrease in deferred outflows related
to pension - - - - -
Increase (decrease) in vouchers payable 751,405 (141,333) (41,628) 176,018 1,027,526
Increase (decrease) in due to other govern-
mental units 242 137,345 - (261,116) 121,606
Increase (decrease) in due to component units - - - - -
Increase (decrease) in due to other funds - - 449,078 91,875

Increase (decrease) in unearned revenue (27,700) - 9,859 - -
Increase (decrease) in current portion of

other long-term liabilities - - - - -
Increase (decrease) in other accrued liabilities (103,902) 2,463 1,754 1,957,396 1,772,632
Increase (decrease) in net pension liability - - - - -
Increase (decrease) in other long-term

liabilities - - - - -
Increase (decrease) in deferred inflows

related to pensions - - - - -
Increase (decrease) in deferred inflows

related to OPEB - - - - -

Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities $ (11,082,805) § 14990617 $ 966,607 $ 21,266,188 § 3,145909

(continued)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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County of Oakland

Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
Proprietary Funds

Year Ended September 30, 2017

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Major
Governmental
Activities -
Totals Internal
Clinton- Non-Major  September 30, Service
S.0.C.S.D.S. Oakland S.D.S. Funds 2017 Funds
Operating income (loss) $ (1,156,503) $ 1214755 $§ (5624517) $ 1071267 $§ 42851,625
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss)
to net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities
Depreciation expense 235,086 817,583 7,162,219 17,666,714 6,328,883
(Increase) decrease in due from other
governmental units 128,399 (463,280) 61,969 3,569,539 603,922
(Increase) decrease in due from component
units - - - (94,423) 3,656
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable 124,595 (450) 55,270 3,779,421 506,649
(Increase) decrease in due from other funds - - (36,394) (42,216) (1,021,552)
(Increase) decrease in inventories and supplies - - 17,177 (45,685) (612,913)
(Increase) decrease in prepayments and other
assets 46,460 - (623,848) (583,600) 312,003
(Increase) decrease in net pension asset - - - - (22,497,565)
(Increase) decrease in net OPEB asset - - - - (65,606,305)
(Increase) decrease i deferred outflows related
to pension - - - - 19,305,794
Increase (decrease) in vouchers payable 267,057 (8,713) (23,260) 2,007,072 7,054,435
Increase (decrease) in due to other govern-
mental units 15,189 (126,564) 104,209 (9,089) 125,269
Increase (decrease) in due to component units - - - - 567
Increase (decrease) in due to other funds 124,003 61,437 7328 733,721 49,011
Increase (decrease) in unearned revenue - - (84,462) (102,303) (71,916)
Increase (decrease) in current portion of
other long-term liabilities - - - - 323,590
Increase (decrease) in other accrued liabilities 452,111 80,959 472,884 4,636,297 479,357
Increase (decrease) in net pension liability - - - - (5,444,786)
Increase (decrease) in other long-term
liabilities - - - - 261,875
Increase (decrease) in deferred inflows
related to pensions - - - - 12,184,257
Increase (decrease) in deferred inflows
related to OPEB - - - - 47,146,838
Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities $ 236397 $ 1575727 $§ 1488075 $§ 32,586,715 $§ 42282694

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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County of Oakland

Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
Proprietary Funds

Year Ended September 30, 2017

Noncash transactions

Enterprise Funds

Major funds:

Noncash and capital-related financing activities included contribution of capital assets in the
amount of $995,851 and $14,648,106 in the County Airports and Evergreen-Farmington S.D.S.
funds, respectively; the transfer of $15,195,838 of capital assets ($21,776,074 less accumulated
depreciation of $6,580,236) to Oakland Township (Special item), disposal of $402,357 of capital
assets ($719,694 less accumulated depreciation of $317,337) and forgiveness of debt in the
amount of $227,084 in the Water and Sewer Trust fund.

Noncash and non-capital related financing activities included recording of Contracts
Receivable and Unearned Revenue of $1,294,265 in the County Airports fund.

Nonmajor funds:
Noncash and non-capital related financing activities included recording of grant proceeds of
$34,399 in the Due from Other Governmental Units asset account in the Huron-Rouge S.D.S. fund.

Internal Service Funds
Noncash and capital-related financing activities included contribution of capital assets in
the amount of $2,083,919 in the Information Technology fund.

Noncash and non-capital related financing activities included the recording of pension

expense of $3,547,700 and reduction of OPEB expense of ($18,459,467) in the Fringe Benefits
fund.
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Fiduciary Fund Financial Statements

Pension (and Other Postemployment Benefits) Trust Funds - Employee Pension Trust funds accept
payments made by the County, invest fund resources, and calculate and pay pensions to beneficiaries.
Postemployment benefit trust funds accumulate resources to provide health-related benefits to retired
employees, dependents and beneficiaries.

Investment Trust Funds - These funds account for monies from external local units of government, held
in a pooled investment portfolio for the benefit of the respective governmental units under contractual
arrangement.

Agency Funds - These funds account for assets held by the County in a custodial capacity.
Disbursements from these funds are contingent upon the agreement or applicable legislative enactment
for each particular fund. Agency funds are generally clearance devices for monies collected for others,
held briefly, and then disbursed to authorized recipients.

Combining schedules for fiduciary funds are presented, by fund type, in the following sections:
Pension (and other postemployment benefits) trust funds

Investment trust funds
Agency funds



County of Oakland
Statement of Net Position
Fiduciary Funds
September 30, 2017

Assets
Pooled cash and investments
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments, at fair value
Common stock
Government agencies
Corporate bonds
Municipal bonds
Hedge funds
Limited partnerships
Asset-backed fixed income
Government bonds
Government mortgage-backed securities
Government-issued commercial mortgage-backed securities
Non-government backed CMOs
Commercial mortgage-backed securities
Bank loans
International common stock
Index-linked government bonds
Real estate
Other fixed income
Other

Total investments

Receivables - interest and dividends
Receivables - other
Prepaid expenses

Total assets
Liabilities
Vouchers payable

Due to other governmental units
Other accrued liabilities

Total liabilities
Net position

Restricted for Pension and other Postemployment
healthcare benefits, and pool participants

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Pension
(and Other
Post-
employment
Benefits)
Trust Funds

§ 43,985,097

399,082,022
55,302,467
182,417,060
4,392,612
96,098,461
124,250,441
28,068,597
83,692,934
89,343,358
4,009,338
1,159,418
20,222,862
5,655,537
652,449,890
44,639,887
201,763,603
4,882,097
408,997

Investment
Trust
Funds

$546,662,273

Agency
Funds

$298,125,809
690,021

1,997,839,581

4,170,040
436,583
206,527

694,867

203,290
40,384

2,046,637,828

547,357,140

299,059,504

1,025,284

2,353,600

65,517,414
217,958,056
15,584,034

3,378,884

299,059,504

$ 2,043,258,944

$547,357,140

$ -




County of Oakland

Statement of Changes in Net Position
Fiduciary Funds

Year Ended September 30, 2017

Additions
Contributions

Pool participants

Plan members

Total contributions
Investment income

Other revenue

Total additions

Deductions
Benefits

Administrative expenses
Distribution to pool participants
Total deductions
Net increase

Net position restricted for pension and other postemployment

healthcare benefits, and pool participants

October 1,2016

September 30,2017

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Pension
(and Other
Post-
employment
Benefits)
Trust Funds

Investment
Trust
Funds

$ - $803,032,443
590,790 -
590,790 803,032,443
223,492,172 4,883,808
3,917,583 -
228,000,545 807,916,251
87,579,060 -
5,965,946 -

- 778,796,690

93,545,006 778,796,690
134,455,539 29,119,561
1,908.,803,405 518,237,579

$ 2,043,258,944

$547,357,140




Component Unit Financial Statements

Component Units

Drainage Districts - This component unit consists of many individual districts created for the purpose of
alleviating drainage problems. This involves accounting for the resources and costs associated with the
construction, maintenance, and financing of the individual drainage districts.

Road Commission - This component unit is responsible for the construction and maintenance of the
County’s system of roads and bridges, and is principally funded by the State-collected vehicle fuel and
registration taxes under Michigan Public Act 51 of 1951.

Combining schedules for Drainage Districts Funds are presented, by fund type, in the Drainage Districts
section.



County of Oakland
Statement of Net Position
Component Units
September 30, 2017

Total
Drainage Road Component
Districts Commission Units
Assets
Current assets
Pooled cash and investments $ 50,325,502 $ - $ 50,325,502
Cash and cash equivalents - 67,799,056 67,799,056
Receivables, net
Special assessments - 5,727,905 5,727,905
Due from other governmental units 5,697,926 - 5,697,926
Due from primary government - 567 567
Accrued interest receivable 159,838 - 159,838
Accounts receivable 113,348 16,247,802 16,361,150
Inventories and supplies - 4,676,522 4,676,522
Prepayments and other assets - 2,157,323 2,157,323
Total current assets 56,296,614 96,609,175 152,905,789
Noncurrent assets
Special assessments receivable 212,044,379 - 212,044,379
Capital assets, net
Land and other nondepreciable assets 112,416,856 212,337,013 324,753,869
Land improvements, net - 853,608 853,608
Buildings and improvements, net 49,488,282 8,145,453 57,633,735
Equipment and vehicles, net 675,267 10,331,366 11,006,633
Infrastructure, net 470,689,176 604,198,202 1,074,887,378
Total capital assets, net 633,269,581 835,865,642 1,469,135,223
Total noncurrent assets 845,313,960 835,865,642 1,681,179,602
Total assets 901,610,574 932,474,817 1,834,085,391
Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred outflows related to pension - 22,885,945 22,885,945
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Vouchers payable 1,563,239 8,763,165 10,326,404
Due to other governmental units 13,365,156 - 13,365,156
Due to primary government 1,059,494 38,139 1,097,633
Unearned revenue and advances 29,495,000 8,734,125 38,229,125
Current portion of long-term debt 17,899,000 - 17,899,000
Current portion of long-term liabilities - 409,050 409,050
Other accrued liabilities 2,872,251 3,450,484 6,322,735
Total current liabilities 66,254,140 21,394,963 87,649,103
Bonds and notes payable 232,265,732 - 232,265,732
Accrued compensated absences - 2,857,000 2,857,000
Claims and judgments - 418,430 418,430
Net pension liability - 45,492,165 45,492,165
Net OPEB obligation - 33,613,147 33,613,147
Total liabilities 298,519,872 103,775,705 402,295,577
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred inflows related to pension - 2,853,168 2,853,168
Net position
Net investment in capital assets 383,104,849 835,865,642 1,218,970,491
Restricted for
Public works 19,736,345 - 19,736,345
Debt service 183,297,678 - 183,297,678
Unrestricted 16,951,830 12,866,247 29,818,077
Total net position $ 603,090,702 $ 848,731,889 $ 1,451,822,591

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
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County of Oakland
Statement of Activities
Component Units

Year Ended September 30, 2017

Program Revenues

Operating Capital Total
Charges for Grants and Grants and Drainage Road Component
Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Districts Commission Units
Functions/Programs
Drainage Districts $ 107,840,196 $ 90,639.289 $ 816,115 § 25507568 $ 9,122,776 $ - 8 9,122,776
Road Commission 128,272,170 16,209,360 85,597,721 39,192,171 - 12,727,082 12,727,082
Total component units $ 236,112366 § 106,848,649 $ 86413836 § 64,699,739 9,122,776 12,727,082 21,849,858
General Revenue
Unrestricted investment earnings 449,177 761,607 1,210,784
Change in net position 9,571,953 13,488,689 23,060,642
Net position
Beginning 593,518,749 835,243,200 1,428,761,949
Ending $§ 603,090,702 § 848,731,889 § 1451822591

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
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County of Oakland
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2017

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The basic financial statements of Oakland County (the County) have been prepared in conformity
with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to government units. The
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for
establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles, which are primarily set
forth in the GASB’s Codification of Governmental Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards
(GASB Codification). The more significant of the County's accounting policies are described
below.

The Financial Reporting Entity

As defined by generally accepted accounting principles established by the GASB, the financial
reporting entity consists of the primary government, as well as its component units, which are
legally separate organizations for which the elected officials of the primary government are
financially accountable. Financial accountability is defined as appointment of a voting majority of
the component unit's board, and either (a) the ability to impose will by the primary government, or
(b) the possibility that the component unit will provide a financial benefit to or impose a financial
burden on the primary government.

The accompanying financial statements present Oakland County (the Primary Government) and its
component units. The County's Parks and Recreation Commission is not legally separate from the
County, nor does it possess separate corporate powers. As such, the financial data of the County's
Parks and Recreation Commission have been included with the financial data of the Primary
Government. The financial data of the component units are included in the County's reporting
entity because of the significance of their operational or financial relationships with the County.

Blended Component Unit

A blended component unit is a legally separate entity from the County, but is so intertwined with
the County that it is, in substance, the same as the County. It is reported as part of the County and
blended into the appropriate funds.

e Oakland County Building Authority (the Authority) — A five-person authority is appointed by
the Oakland County Board of Commissioners, and its activity is dependent upon Board actions.
The purpose of the Authority is to finance, through tax-exempt bonds, the construction of
public buildings for use by the County, with the bonds secured by lease agreements with the
County and retired through lease payments from the County. The Oakland County Building
Authority is reported as if it were part of the primary government because its sole purpose is to
finance the construction of the County's public buildings. The Authority's activity is reported
in various Debt Service funds (designated by the caption “Building Authority”), and the
Building Improvement Fund, a capital projects fund.

Separate financial statements for the Authority are not published.
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Notes to Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2017

Discretely Presented Component Unit

A discretely presented component unit is an entity that is legally separate from the County but for
which the County is financially accountable, or its relationship with the County is such that
exclusion would cause the County's financial statements to be misleading or incomplete. These
component units are reported in separate columns to emphasize that they are legally separate from
the County.

Road Commission for Oakland County (Road Commission) — The Road Commission is
governed by three appointees of the County Board of Commissioners who are not County
Board members. The Road Commission is responsible for the construction and maintenance of
the County's system of roads and bridges, and is principally funded by State-collected vehicle
fuel and registration taxes under Michigan Public Act 51 of 1951. The County has budgetary
control and appropriation authority over its activities; however, such has not been exercised.
The Road Commission's primary activities, which are as of and for the year ended September
30, 2017, are reported discretely as a governmental fund type - Special Revenue fund. The
Road Commission Retirement System, which is as of and for the year ended December 31,
2016, is not reported in the financial statements of Oakland County.

Complete financial statements of the Road Commission, which include the Road Commission
Retirement System and its separately issued statements, can be obtained from its administrative
offices as follows:

Road Commission for Oakland County
31001 Lahser Road
Beverly Hills, Michigan 48025

Drainage Districts — This component unit consists of individual districts created under
Chapters 20 and 21 of Michigan Public Act 40 of 1956, for the purpose of alleviating drainage
problems. This involves the construction, maintenance, and financing necessary to account for
the cost of the drainage district. The individual districts, each a separate legal entity with
power to assess the benefiting communities, are governed by the Drain Board for Oakland
County, which consists of the Oakland County Water Resources Commissioner, the Chairman
of the Oakland County Board of Commissioners, and the Chairperson of the Finance
Committee of the Board of Commissioners. Assessments are made against the applicable
municipalities within each district, including the Road Commission for Oakland County and
the State of Michigan for road drainage. All activities of the various drainage districts are
administered by the Oakland County Water Resources Commissioner. However, the drainage
districts are not subject to the County’s appropriation process. Because of the relationship
between the component unit and the primary government, it would be misleading to exclude
the Drainage Districts” Component Unit from the financial statements of Oakland County.

The financial activities of the Drainage Districts as of and for the year ended September 30,
2017 are reported discretely as a governmental fund type. There are no separately issued
financial statements of this component unit, although financial information for the specific
drainage districts may be obtained from:

Oakland County Water Resources Commissioner

#1 Public Works Drive
Waterford, Michigan 48328
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Basic (Government-wide) and Fund Financial Statements — GASB Statement No. 34

GASB Statement No. 34 establishes standards for external financial reporting for state and local
governments and requires that net position be classified for accounting and reporting purposes into
the following three categories:

e Net investment in capital assets consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation
and reduced by outstanding balances for bonds, notes, and other debt that are attributed to the
acquisition, construction or improvement of those assets.

e Restricted net position results when constraints placed on net position use are either
externally imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors and the like, or imposed by law through
constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.

e Unrestricted net position consists of net position which does not meet the definition of the
two preceding categories. Unrestricted net position often is designated to indicate that
management does not consider it to be available for general operations. Unrestricted net
position often has constraints on resources which are imposed by management, but can be
removed or modified.

The basic financial statements include both government-wide (based on the County as a whole) and
fund financial statements. While the previous financial reporting model emphasized fund types
(the total of all funds of a particular type) in the new financial reporting model, the focus is on
either the County as a whole, or major individual funds (within the fund financial statements).
Both the government-wide and fund financial statements (within the basic financial statements)
categorize primary activities as either governmental or business-type. In the government-wide
Statement of Net Position, both the governmental and business-type activities columns (a) are
presented on a consolidated basis by column, and (b) are reflected, on a full accrual, economic
resource basis, which incorporates long-term assets and receivables as well as long-term debt and
obligations.

The County’s fiduciary funds (which have been redefined and narrowed in scope) are presented in
the fund financial statements by type. Since, by definition, these assets are being held for the
benefit of third parties (pension participants and others) and cannot be used to finance activities or
obligations of the government, these funds are not incorporated into the government-wide
statements.

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement
focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are
recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Property taxes
are recognized as revenue in the year for which they are levied. Grants and similar items are
recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been
met.

The government-wide Statement of Activities reflects the degree to which direct expenses that are
clearly identifiable with a given functional category (General Government, Public Safety, Justice
Administration, Citizen Services, Public Works, Recreation and Leisure, and Commerce and
Community Development) are offset by program revenues. Program revenue includes 1) charges
to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services or privileges
provided by a given function or category, restricted investment earnings, and 2) grants and
contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular
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functional category. The operating grants include operating-specific and discretionary (either
operating or capital) grants, while the capital grants column reflects capital-specific grants.
Property taxes and certain intergovernmental revenues are reported instead as general revenues,
which are used to cover the net cost of the various functional categories of the County.

The County policy is to eliminate internal activity from the Statement of Activities. This policy
dictates the elimination of indirect expenses, but not direct expenses. The exception to this general
rule is activities between funds reported as governmental activities and funds reported as business-
type activities (i.e., billings for services or products by internal service funds to enterprise funds).

The County does not currently employ an indirect cost allocation system. Rather, an administrative
service fee is charged by the General Fund to the other operating funds to address General Fund
services such as finance, personnel, purchasing, legal, administration, etc. This is treated like a
reimbursement, eliminating revenues and expenses on the Statement of Activities.

This government-wide focus is more on the sustainability of the County as an entity and the change
in aggregate financial position resulting from the activities of the fiscal period.

The fund financial statements are, in substance, very similar to the financial statements presented in
the previous financial reporting model. Emphasis here is on the major funds in either the
governmental or business-type categories. Non-major funds (by category) are summarized into a
single column.

The governmental funds statements in the fund financial statements are presented on a current
financial resource and modified accrual basis of accounting. Since the governmental fund
statements are presented on a different measurement focus and basis of accounting than the
government-wide statements governmental column, a reconciliation is presented on the page
following each statement, which briefly explains the adjustments necessary to reconcile the fund-
based financial statements into the full accrual governmental column of the government-wide
presentation.

Internal service funds of a government (which traditionally provide services primarily to other
funds of the government) are presented, in summary form, as part of the proprietary fund financial
statements. Since the principal users of the internal services are the County’s governmental
activities, financial statements of internal service funds are consolidated into the governmental
column when presented at the government-wide level. The costs of these services are allocated to
the appropriate functional activity. When appropriate, surplus or deficits in the internal service
funds are allocated back to the various users within the entity-wide Statement of Activities.

The focus of the entity-wide financial statements under the new reporting model is to present the
County as a whole. The focus of the Fund Financial Statements is on the major individual funds of
the governmental and business-type categories, as well as the fiduciary funds (by category), and the
component units. Each presentation provides valuable information that can be analyzed and
compared (between years and between governments) to enhance the usefulness of the information.

Basis of Presentation — Fund Accounting
Funds are used to report the County's financial position and results of operations. Fund accounting
is designed to demonstrate legal compliance and to aid financial management by segregating
transactions related to certain government functions or activities. A fund is a separate accounting
entity with a self-balancing set of accounts.

73



County of Oakland
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2017

The County reports the following major governmental funds:

The General Fund is the County’s primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial resources
except those required to be accounted for in another fund. Revenue is primarily derived from
property taxes, state and federal distributions, and charges for services.

The Building Authority Debt Act 31 Fund was established to accumulate the resources for payment
of bonded debt issued for the construction of, or improvement to, various facilities. This also
includes debt issued as assistance in obtaining favorable lending rates for other units of government
within the County.

The Water and Sewer Debt Act 342 Fund accounts for the accumulation of resources, mainly
special assessments against benefiting municipalities, for the payment of bonded debt issued for
construction of various water and sewer systems in Oakland County.

The County reports the following major enterprise funds:
The Parks and Recreation Fund accounts for the operation of the Oakland County parks system.

The Delinquent Tax Revolving Fund accounts for money advanced to the County and other local
units of government for unpaid property taxes, and the subsequent collection of delinquencies.

The County Airports Fund was created to account for operations of the County’s airports.

The Water and Sewer Trust Fund accounts for the collection of resources for the operation of
various water and sewer systems maintained by the County, rather than the respective individual
municipalities.

The Evergreen-Farmington S.D.S. (Sewage Disposal System) Fund was established to record the
operations and maintenance of the system, which is used to move sewage to the Great Lakes Water
Authority for treatment. Costs are recovered by developing rates and billing the municipalities
serviced.

The Southeastern Oakland County S.D.S (S.0.C.S.D.S.) Fund was established to record the
operations and maintenance of the system, which is used to move sewage and storm water to the
Great Lakes Water Authority for treatment. Costs are recovered by developing rates and billing the
municipalities being served.

The Clinton-Oakland S.D.S. (Sewage Disposal System) Fund was established to record the
operations and maintenance of the system, which is used to move sewage to the Great Lakes Water
Authority for treatment. Costs are recovered by developing rates and billing the municipalities
being serviced.

Additionally, the County reports the following fund types:

Governmental Fund Types

Special Revenue Funds are used to ensure that specified resources (other than expendable trusts
and funds for major capital improvements) are used as required by legal, regulatory, and/or
administrative provisions. Included within the Special Revenue Funds are programs for care of
children, drain maintenance, and certain grant operations involving public health, employment
training, community development, environmental infrastructure programs, and other grants.
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Debt Service Funds account for the financing resources and payment of current principal and
interest on debt. Debt Service Funds account for servicing of general long-term debt of various
building authority debt issues, and debt associated with local water and sewer obligations upon
which there are County guarantees.

Capital Projects Funds account for the acquisition, construction, and renovation of major capital
facilities other than those financed by proprietary funds.

Proprietary Fund Types

Internal service funds account for goods and services provided to departments, funds, and
governmental units on a cost-reimbursement basis. Included within the internal service funds are
certain fringe benefits provided to County employees which include health, workers’
compensation, unemployment compensation, information technology, various equipment revolving
funds, and central service-type operations.

Enterprise Funds, business-type activities, report operations for services to the general public,
financed primarily by user charges intended to recover the cost of services provided, and include
three airports, four sewage disposal systems, parks and others.

As a general rule, the effect of inter-fund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide
financial statements. The exception to this general rule is activities between funds reported as
governmental activities and funds reported as business-type activities.

Amounts reported as program revenues include 1) charges for customers for goods supplied or
services provided, 2) operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital grants and contributions.
Internally dedicated resources, as well as taxes, are reported as general revenue rather than as
program revenues.

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating
revenues and expenses generally result from providing goods and services in connection with a
proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. Operating expenses for enterprise funds and
internal service funds include the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses, and
depreciation of capital assets. Revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as
nonoperating revenues and expenses.

Fiduciary Fund Types

Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside the
government. Oakland County’s fiduciary funds include Pension (and other postemployment
benefits) Trust funds to account for retirees’ retirement and medical benefits; Investment Trust
funds, which report funds deposited by and invested for local units of government; and Agency
funds, which account for assets held in a custodial capacity by the County for others. These funds
are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements because the resources of the funds are
not available to support the programs of Oakland County.

Basis of Accounting

e Primary government - The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to a fund is
determined by its measurement focus. Governmental funds are accounted for using a current
financial resources measurement focus. With this measurement focus, only current assets,
except for certain miscellaneous receivables and special assessments, and current liabilities are
included on the balance sheet. Governmental funds are used to account for all or most of the
County's general activities, including the collection and disbursement of earmarked resources
and the servicing of long-term debt.
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e Proprietary, Pension Trust, and Investment Trust Funds are accounted for on a flow-of-
economic-resources measurement focus. All assets and liabilities are included on the Statement
of Net Position with the balance classified as net position. Proprietary funds account for
activities similar to those found in the private sector, where the determination of net income is
necessary or useful for sound financial administration.

o The financial statements have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles. Governmental funds use the modified accrual basis of accounting, which recognizes
revenue in the accounting period in which it becomes susceptible to accrual, generally when it
becomes both measurable and available. Property taxes are levied on December 1 and July 1
of each year (see Note 4) and are recognized as revenue in the fiscal year during which they are
levied, and interest associated with the current fiscal period is considered to be susceptible to
accrual and has been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period. Only the portion of
special assessment receivable due within the current fiscal period is considered to be
susceptible to accrual as revenues of the current period. Other revenue is considered to be
available when anticipated to be collected within 60 days of the end of the fiscal period.
Expenditures are recorded when the related fund liability is incurred, except debt service
expenditures, which are recorded when paid.

e Proprietary, Pension Trust, and Investment Trust Funds use the accrual basis of accounting.
Under this method, revenue is recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time
liabilities are incurred. Agency funds, which report only a Statement of Net Position, use the
accrual basis of accounting.

Discretely Presented Component Units

The Road Commission uses the current financial resources measurement focus for its governmental
fund-type activities. The governmental fund type is used to account for all of the Road
Commission's activities, including the collection and disbursement of earmarked resources and the
servicing of long-term debt. Revenues and expenditures are recorded under the modified accrual
basis of accounting, and, as such, revenue is recorded when measurable and available, and earned.
Project-related revenue is recognized as related costs are incurred, except for interest on long-term
debt, which is recorded when paid.

The Drainage Districts use the current financial resources measurement focus for their activities.
The governmental fund type is used to account for all of the Drainage Districts’ activities,
including the financing of the cost of construction and maintenance of Drainage Districts and
servicing of long-term debt. Revenues and expenditures are recorded under the modified accrual
basis of accounting, and as such, revenue is recorded when measurable and available, and earned.
Project-related revenues are recognized as related costs are incurred, except for debt service
expenditures, which are recorded when paid.

Budgets

Budgets and budgetary accounting are on the modified accrual basis, which is consistent with
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP basis) in that property tax revenue is recognized
when made available by Board resolution. The budget was legally adopted by the Board of
Commissioners prior to September 30, 2016 and presented in a separate document. Appropriation
budgets were adopted for the General Fund and the following Special Revenue funds: Child Care
and Social Welfare-Foster Care. Appropriations lapse at the end of the year. Project-length
financial plans are budgeted for the remainder of the Special Revenue funds and for all Debt
Service and Capital Projects funds. Budget and actual comparisons for such funds are not reported
in the financial statements because annual budgets are not prepared.
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Encumbrances are recorded at the time that purchase orders and contracts are issued. The
encumbrances are liquidated when the goods or services are received. Unliquidated encumbrances
at the end of the year are set aside as assigned within fund balance. In the succeeding year, the
encumbrances are re-appropriated by the Board of Commissioners to cover the unliquidated
encumbrances included in fund equity.

Pooled Cash and Investments

The County maintains a cash and investment pool for all funds except the pension trust funds, the
Superseding Trust fund, and two agency funds (Jail Inmate Trust and District Court Trust), in order
to maximize investment earnings. Investments of the pool are not segregated by fund, but each
contributing fund’s balance is treated as equity in the pool. For funds not in the pool, cash
equivalents are considered to be demand deposits and short-term investments with an original
maturity date of three months or less from the date of acquisition.

Cash overdrafts occurring in funds participating in pooled cash accounts at September 30, 2017
have been reclassified as a "due to other funds," and a corresponding "due from other funds" was
established in the General Fund. Similarly, negative accrued interest receivable caused by negative
cash balances is also reclassified at year end as an inter-fund liability.

Pooled investment income is allocated to all funds based on the respective share of their average
daily balances. Interest charges for funds with negative balances are reported as negative interest
income.

Inter-fund Receivables/Payables

During the course of operations, numerous transactions occur between individual funds for goods
provided or services rendered. Short-term receivables and payables resulting from such
transactions are classified as "due from other funds" or "due to other funds" on the balance sheet.

Non-current portions of long-term inter-fund loan receivables are reported as advances and are
offset equally by nonspendable fund balance.

Inventories

Inventories in governmental and proprietary funds are stated at cost using the first-in, first-out
(FIFO) method. The cost of such inventories is recorded as expenditures/expenses when consumed
rather than when purchased.

Prepayments

Payments made for services that will benefit periods beyond September 30, 2017 are recorded as
prepayments using the consumption method.
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Capital Assets

Capital assets, which include land, buildings, equipment and infrastructure assets (e.g., roads,
drains, and similar items), are reported in the government-wide statements and applicable
proprietary fund financial statements. Capital assets that are used for governmental activities are
only capitalized in the government-wide statements and fully expended in the government funds.
The County established capitalization thresholds for capital assets of $5,000. Capital assets are
stated at cost or, if donated, at acquisition value at the time of donation. In some instances, capital
asset historical costs were not available; therefore, the costs of these assets at the dates of
acquisitions have been estimated. Expenditures materially extending the life of capital assets are
capitalized. Interest incurred during construction is only capitalized in proprietary funds. Capital
assets are depreciated over their useful lives, using the straight-line depreciation method.
Infrastructure ("public domain") assets, including roads, bridges, sanitary sewers, drains, curbs, and
gutters, are capitalized.

The County's estimated useful lives of the major classes of property and equipment follow:

Class Years
Land improvements 10-15
Buildings and improvements 35-45
Equipment and vehicles 3-10
Sewage disposal systems 40-50
Infrastructure 10-75

Capital assets used in the general operation of the Road Commission are depreciated under various
methods, including straight-line and sum-of-the-years digits.

Compensated Absences

Compensated absences (vested sick and annual leave) of the Primary Government that are allowed
to accumulate are charged to operations in the Fringe Benefit fund (an Internal Service fund) as the
benefits accrue. Compensated absences for the Road Commission are accrued when incurred in the
government-wide financial statements. A liability for these amounts is reported in the
governmental funds only for employee terminations as of year end.

No liability is recorded for non-vesting accumulating rights to receive sick pay benefits for the
Primary Government and Component Units.

Pension

The County offers pension benefits to retirees. The County records a net pension liability for the
difference between the total pension liability calculated by the actuary and the pension plan’s
fiduciary net position. For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of
resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions and pension expense, information
about the fiduciary net position of the pension plan and additions to/deductions from the pension
plan’s fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by the
pension plan. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are
recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at
fair value.
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Other Postemployment Benefit Liability/(Asset)

The County offers a defined healthcare benefits plan to retirees. The County records an OPEB
liability (asset) for the difference between the total OPEB liability calculated by the actuary and the
OPEB plan’s fiduciary net position. For the purpose of measuring the net OPEB liability (asset),
deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB, and OPEB
expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the OPEB plan and additions to/deductions
from the OPEB plan’s fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are
reported by the OPEB plan. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee
contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms.
Investments are reported at fair value.

In June 2015, the GASB issued two new standards addressing accounting and financial reporting
by state and local governments for postemployment benefits other than pension (OPEB). GASB
Statement No. 74, Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Plans other than Pension
Plans, addresses reporting by OPEB plans, whereas GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and
Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions, addresses accounting and
reporting by employer governments that provide OPEB benefits to their employees. Along with
the currently required statement of fiduciary net position and statement of changes in fiduciary net
position, OPEB plans are now required to include in the financial statement more extensive
footnote disclosures and required supplemental information related to the measurement of the
OPEB liabilities for which assets have been accumulated. The County has implemented both of
these statements this year.

The net OPEB liability (asset) is recorded on both the government-wide and internal service funds
statements. This change does not impact the General Fund or any other governmental fund. Refer
to the OPEB notes for further details.

Net Pension Liability/(Asset)

The government-wide statements now include a liability/(asset) for our unfunded/overfunded
legacy costs related to the County’s pension plan. The net pension liability/(asset) is the difference
between the total pension liability and the plan’s fiduciary net position. The pension expense
recognized each fiscal year is equal to the change in the net pension liability from the beginning of
the year to the end of the year, adjusted for deferred recognition of the liability and investment
experience. The net pension liability/(asset) is recorded on the government-wide, internal service
and discretely presented component unit statements. This change does not impact the General
Fund or any other governmental fund. Refer to the pension footnotes for further details.

Fund Equity
In the fund financial statements for the governmental fund reports, the following are the
components of fund balance.

e Nonspendable, includes amounts that cannot be spent.

e Restricted, amounts that are restricted to specific purposes externally imposed by creditors,
grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments, or imposed by law through
enabling legislation.

e Committed, amounts that can only be used for specific purposes pursuant to constraints
imposed by formal resolution of the County’s highest level of decision-making authority. A
formal resolution by the Board of Commissioners is required to establish, modify or rescind a
fund balance commitment.
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e Assigned, amounts that are constrained by the County’s intent to be used for specific purposes,
but are neither restricted nor committed. These assignments are authorized by the Board of
Commissioners through a formal resolution.

e Unassigned, is the residual classification of the General Fund, and the reporting of any negative
fund balance of a governmental fund.

When an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted net position or
fund balance are available, the County’s policy is to first apply restricted resources. When an
expense is incurred for purposes for which amounts in any of the unrestricted fund balance
classifications could be used, it is the County’s policy to spend funds in this order: committed,
assigned, and unassigned.

Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources

In addition to assets, the statement of net position and/or balance sheet will sometimes report a
separate section for deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element
represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period and so will not be
recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until then. The Road Commission
reports deferred outflows from the difference between expected and actual investment earnings,
contributions made after the measurement date of the net pension liability, and changes in
assumptions in relation to the pension plan.

In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position and/or balance sheet will sometimes report a
separate section for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element
represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period and so will not be recognized
as an inflow of resources (revenues) until that time. The government has three types of deferred
inflows, one of which arises only under a modified accrual basis of accounting, that qualify for
reporting in this category. Accordingly, the item, unavailable revenue, is reported only in the
governmental funds balance sheet. The governmental funds report unavailable revenues from five
sources: property taxes, contracts, grants, special assessments and other. These amounts are
deferred and recognized as an inflow of resources in the period that the amounts become available.
The second type is related to the difference between expected and actual experience related to the
Retirement and OPEB plans. These amounts will be amortized over the next four years and
included in net Pension and OPEB expense. The third type is related to the difference between
projected and actual investment earnings of the pension plan and OPEB plan.

Property taxes levied are used to finance the expenditures of the current fiscal period (October 1,
2016 through September 30, 2017) and are reported as revenues in the financial statements.
Amounts not collected within 60 days of the end of the fiscal year are considered unavailable for
the current period, and are reported as deferred inflows.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the basic financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
basic financial statements, September 30, 2017. These estimates and assumptions also affect the
reported amounts of revenues and expenditures/expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.
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2. Legal Compliance - Budgets

The Board of Commissioners has established the legal level of control by control groups, as
outlined in the County's General Appropriations Act. This act states that expenditures shall not
exceed the total appropriations for personnel expenditures (salaries, overtime, and fringes),
operating expenditures, and internal support expenditures (Internal Service fund charges),
respectively, by department. Budgets are adopted and presented on the GAAP basis of accounting.

The Board of Commissioners is authorized to make amendments to the various budgets as deemed
necessary. Current year supplemental budgetary appropriations were not material. Funds that
receive an appropriation and can therefore be defined as those with an appropriated, annual, legally
adopted budget are the General Fund and two Special Revenue funds: Child Care and Social
Welfare Foster Care. The budgetary comparison for the General Fund is presented in the Required
Supplementary Information. The Child Care and Social Welfare Foster Care funds are presented in
the Special Revenue Funds section.

Transfers within and between budgeted funds and departments may be made by the Fiscal Officer
(Director of Management and Budget Department) in the following instances:

(a) Transfers may be made from the non-departmental overtime reserve account and fringe
benefit adjustment account to the appropriate departmental budget as specific overtime
requests are reviewed and approved by the Fiscal Officer. Additionally, overtime
appropriations may be transferred between divisions within a department at the request of
the department head, if authorized by the Fiscal Officer or designee.

(b) Transfers may be made from the non-departmental appropriation reserve accounts for
maintenance department charges and miscellaneous capital outlay to the appropriate
departmental budgets as specific requests for these items are reviewed and approved by
the Fiscal Officer.

(c) Transfers may be made from the non-departmental appropriation reserve accounts,
emergency salaries, and summer help as specific requests for these items are reviewed
and approved by the Director of the Human Resources Department.

At year end, the Board of Commissioners adopts a resolution which authorizes and closes amounts
exceeding the original appropriation against the balances in other appropriations and closes the
remaining balance to the General Fund's "Unassigned Fund Balance."

During the fiscal year, the County incurred no expenditures in excess of appropriations which are
presented at the legal level of control.

3. Deposits and Investments

The County has deposits and investments which are maintained for its primary government,
component unit and fiduciary fund types.

For the primary government, the County manages its investments in a pool format which is used by
all County funds. Income, gains and losses are allocated back to County funds based on their share
of the pool which is calculated on their average daily cash balance.
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1.

For its pool, the County only uses federal and state-chartered banks and savings institutions, which
are members of the FDIC, NCUA or DIFS and have a location in the state of Michigan. All
deposits and investments for the pool are held in the County’s name and tax ID number.

The County Treasurer is permitted to offer an investment option to local units of government
within the County, called the Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP). Contracted participant
deposits are treated just like County funds. Income, gains and losses are allocated based upon the
participants’ average daily balance. The LGIP is not subject to regulatory oversight, is not
registered with the SEC, and does not issue a separate report. Fair value of the position in the pool
is approximately equal to the value of the pool shares. The LGIP has not provided or obtained any
legally binding guarantees during the period to support the value of the shares. Investments are
valued monthly.

Deposits

It is County policy to review and verify a bank’s creditworthiness through a system of ratio
analysis and from information provided by several third-party sources. In addition, the County
places concentration limits on banks based on creditworthiness resulting from both the ratio
analysis and third-party information.

Custodial Credit Risk — Deposits. Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that in the event of a
bank failure, the County’s deposits may not be returned.

As of September 30, 2017, the bank balance of the County's deposits was $990,722,377. Insured
deposits were $4,500,000, and the remaining $986,222,377 was uninsured, uncollateralized, and
held in the County's name.

The Drainage District’s component unit’s cash, deposits and investments are maintained in pooled
accounts of the County; therefore, their amount of insurance would be allocated to the Drainage
District’s deposits based on their prorated share of the investment portfolio.

The County’s Investment Policy allows for the use of bank deposits including certificates of
deposit. The only limitation placed on bank deposits is that they cannot exceed 60% of the total
investment portfolio. In addition, the County’s investment policy limits the investment with any
single financial institution to 15%.

At September 30, 2017, the Road Commission component unit had $14,520,957 of bank deposits
(checking and savings accounts) that were uninsured and uncollateralized. The Road Commission
believes that due to the dollar amounts of cash deposits and the limits of FDIC insurance, it is
impractical to insure all deposits. However, only those institutions with an acceptable estimated
risk level are used as depositories.

Investments - Internal Investment Pool

Investments, except those of the Retirement Systems, Superseding Retirees’ Medical Benefits Trust
and Deferred Compensation Plan, are administered by the Treasurer under guidelines established
by Act 20 of the Michigan Public Acts of 1943, as amended, and the Investment Policy as adopted
by the County’s Board of Commissioners. The County’s Investment Policy is more restrictive than
state law and allows for the following instruments:

Bonds, securities, and other obligations of the United States or an agency or instrumentality of the
United States.
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2. Certificates of deposit, savings accounts, deposit accounts, or depository receipts of Michigan
financial institutions.

3. Commercial paper rated at the time of purchase at the highest classification established by not
less than two standard rating services and that matures not more than 270 days after the date of
purchase.

4. Repurchase agreements consisting of instruments in subdivision 1. The PSA Master Repurchase

Agreement prototype agreement shall be employed with appropriate supplemental provisions

regarding security delivery, security substitutions, and governing law. A signed repurchase

agreement must be on file before entering into a repurchase transaction.

Bankers’ acceptances of United States banks.

6. Obligations of this state or any of its political subdivisions that at the time of purchase are rated as
investment grade by not less than 1 standard rating service.

7. Obligations described in subdivisions 1 through 6 if purchased through an inter-local agreement
under the Urban Cooperation Act of 1967.

8. Investment pools organized under the Surplus Funds Investment Pool Act, PA 367 of 1982.

. Investment pools organized under the Local Government Investment Pool Act, PA 121 of 1985.

10. Mutual funds registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940 with authority to only
purchase investment vehicles that are legal for direct investment by a Michigan public
corporation. Investment is limited to mutual funds that maintain a net asset value of $1.00 per
share.

hd

As of September 30, 2017, the County had the following deposit and investment types in its
internal investment pool.

Weighted Average

Deposit and Investment Type Market Value Maturity (days)
Certificates of Deposit (1) $ 906,819,525 196
Deposit Accounts (1) 83,902,852 1
Money Market Investment Pools 279,835,076 1
Negotiable CD 5,004,100 841
Commercial Paper 92,826,862 49

MI Government Coupon 39,797,030 3,386

U.S. Agencies 426,473,295 693
Total Market Value of Internal Investment Pool $ 1,834,658,740

Weighted Average Maturity of Internal Investment Pool (in days) 329

(1) These items are considered deposits and not investments. They are presented here to give a
clear picture of the investment pool’s overall weighted average maturity.

Credit Risk — The County had $426,473,295 invested in U.S. government securities which are rated
AA+ by Standard & Poor’s and Aaa by Moody’s. The County had $39,797,030 in Municipal
bonds rated Aaa by Moody’s and AAA by Standard & Poor’s. State law limits investments in
commercial paper to the top two ratings issued by a nationally recognized statistical rating
organization (NRSRO). It is the County’s policy to further limit its investments in commercial
paper to only the top rating as issued by NRSROs. At September 30, 2017, the County had
$32,955,635 invested in A1+ (S&P) and P1 (Moody’s) commercial paper and $59,871,227 invested
in Al (S&P) and P1 (Moody’s). The money market investment pool had $279,835,076 invested
with a rating of AAAm (S&P). The County’s investment policy is silent on the use of rated versus
unrated money market funds. In addition, there is no rating level requirement for rated money
market funds.
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Custodial Credit Risk — Investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty,
the County will not be able to recover the value of its investments that are in the possession of
another side party. The County’s investment policy requires that all investment transactions
(including collateral for repurchase agreements) be conducted on a delivery-versus-payment (DVP)
basis. Securities shall be held by a third-party custodian, as designated by the County Treasurer,
and shall be evidenced by a safekeeping receipt. As of September 30, 2017, $564,101,287 in
investments, at fair value, was held in third-party safekeeping in the County’s name.

The County also invests in money market funds that have their securities safe kept with a third
party selected by the counterparty. However, the pool’s securities are held in trust for the
participants of the fund and are not available to the counterparty if the counterparty should happen
to fail. We believe this arrangement satisfies the County’s investment policy safe-keeping
requirement.

Concentration of Credit Risk — Investments. On September 30, 2017, the County had investments
of 5% or more, of the total portfolio, with the following U.S. agency issuers: Fannie Mae 10.25%,
and Freddie Mac 11.09%. No other issuer exceeded 5% of the total portfolio.

Interest Rate Risk — To limit its exposure to fair value losses from rising interest rates, the County’s
Investment Policy states the County will not directly invest in securities that mature more than
three years from date of purchase; however, securities exceeding the three-year limitation may be
purchased provided maturity dates coincide with the expected use of the funds. As of September
30, 2017, the internal investment pool had a weighted average maturity of 329 days and the longest
investment maturity in the portfolio was 3,386 days (9.3 years).

Fair Value Measurement — The County categorizes investments measured at fair value within the
fair value hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is
based on the valuation inputs used to measure the fair value of the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs;
Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs. Investments that are measured at fair value
using the net asset value per share (or its equivalent) as a practical expedient are not classified in
the fair value hierarchy below.

In instances whereby inputs used to measure fair value fall into different levels in the above fair
value hierarchy, fair value measurements in their entirety are categorized based on the lowest level
input that is significant to the valuation. The County’s assessment of the significance of particular
inputs to these fair value measurements requires judgment and considers factors specific to each
asset or liability.
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The County has the following recurring fair value measurements as of September 30, 2017:

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

Fair Value Measurement Using

Investment Type Total Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Commercial Paper $ 92,826,862 $ - $ 92,826,862 $ -
Government Agencies 426,473,295 - 426,473,295

Municipal Bonds 39,797,030 - 39,797,030

Total Investments by Fair Value $559,097,187  $ - $559,097,187 $ -

Investments measured at the
Net Asset Value (NAYV)

Money Market Investment Pools 279,835,076
Total Investments measured
fair value $838,932,263

The fair value of Commercial Paper, Government Agencies and Municipal Bonds at September 30,
2017 was determined primarily based on Level 2 inputs, and they are valued using quoted prices
for identical securities in markets that are not active. Money Market Investment Pools are valued
at published fair value per share (unit) for the fund.

Investments — Pension Trust Funds

The Pension Trust Funds and the Superseding Retirees’ Medical Benefits Trust Fund investments
are made in accordance with Act 55 of the Michigan Public Acts of 1982, as amended, and are
limited to no more than 65 percent in common stock. In addition, no investments, loans, or leases
are with parties related to the pension plan.

Pension investments are made through the use of Investment Advisors which are selected and
retained by the Retirement (PERS, VEBA and SMBT) and Deferred Compensation Boards. The
advisors serve at the leisure of the Board as provided by investment agreements. At September 30,
2017, the Primary Government's Pension Trust fund had 27 investment advisors. Investments are
held in street name by safekeeping agents under formal trust agreements and/or in the Retirement
Systems' name.
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As of September 30, 2017, the County had the following investment types in its Retirement System
and other postemployment benefits trust funds:

Average
Duration
Investment Type Fair Value Percentage (In Years)
Common Stock $ 573,244,138 28.13% N/A
International Common Stock 79,205,753 3.89% N/A
Common Stock - Funds 396,733,425 19.47% N/A
Exchange Traded Funds 2,348,597 0.11% N/A
Government Bonds 78,583,489 3.86% 7.19
International Government Bonds 5,109,446 0.25% N/A
Government Agencies 55,302,466 2.71% 3.35
Municipal Bonds 4,392,612 0.21% 10.28
Corporate Bonds 182,417,060 8.95% 6.32
Bank Loans 5,655,536 0.28% N/A
Government Mortgage-Backed Securities 89,343,358 4.38% 3.66
Gov't Issued Commercial Mortgage-Backed 4,009,338 0.20% 5.64
Commercial Mortgage-Backed Securities 20,222,861 0.99% 3.82
Asset-Backed Securities 28,068,596 1.38% 1.36
Non-government Backed CMOs 1,159,418 0.06% 1.52
Index Linked Government Bonds 44,639,887 2.19% 13.07
Other Fixed Income 4,882,097 0.24% 2.95
Real Estate 201,763,604 9.90% N/A
Partnerships 124,250,441 6.10% N/A
Other Assets 408,997 0.02% N/A
Hedge Funds 96,098,460 4.71% N/A
Cash and Cash Equivalents 40,263,222 1.97% 0.27

Total $2,038,102,801 100.00%

Credit Risk. The Board’s adopted Statement of Investment Goals and Objectives (SIGO) states
that no non-convertible bonds and convertible securities are authorized for purchase. In addition,
no more than 10% of the total value of the portfolio, at the time of purchase, may be held in non-
investment grade bonds as rated by Moody’s and/or Standard & Poor’s. Ninety percent of the total
value of the portfolio must have a quality rating of A or better by Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s.
For any security held in the portfolio that drops below investment grade as rated by Moody’s or
Standard & Poor’s, the investment manager is to advise the Board of that fact along with a
buy/hold recommendation. The Board shall then instruct the investment manager as to which
action should be taken.
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As of September 30, 2017, debt obligation investments held in the retirement system had the
following ratings:

Ratings
Fair Value Percentage S&P Moody's
$182,982,592 27.58 % AAA Aaa
21,477,642 3.24 AA Aa
92,575,469 13.95 A A
58,197,831 8.77 BBB Baa
13,631,643 2.05 BB Ba
10,320,513 1.56 B B
505,988 0.08 CCC Caa
175,676,622 26.48 NR NR
108,108,390 16.29 US Gov't Guaranteed

$663,476,690 100.00 %

Custodial Credit Risk is the risk associated that in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the
Retirement System would not be able to recover the value of its investments that are in the
possession of another side party. The Retirement System’s Statement of Investment Goals and
Objectives (SIGO) requires that all investment transactions shall be conducted through a custodian
that will act as the system’s third party. Securities shall be held by the custodian, as designated by
the Retirement Boards, and shall be evidenced by a custodial report. As of September 30, 2017,
$2,038,103,801 in investments was held in third-party safekeeping in the County’s name.

Concentration of Credit Risk. The Board’s adopted Statement of Investment Goals and Objectives
(SIGO) states that no more than 5% of the assets of the Retirement System’s portfolio may be
invested in the fixed-income obligations of any one corporation or its affiliates and no more than
10% may be invested in the equity of any one corporation or its affiliates. Further, for fixed-
income investments, no more than 10% of the assets of the portfolio may be invested in the
securities of any governmental agency that is not fully backed by the U.S. government. No
limitation applies to obligations of the United States Treasury or any fully guaranteed agency of the
federal government.

For equities, holdings of all securities of an industry group should not exceed 25% of the portfolio
at cost. ADRs should not exceed a maximum of 10% of the portfolio at cost and shall be further
limited to Canadian securities and non-U.S. domiciled corporations issuing U.S. securities. As of
September 30, 2017, as reported by the system’s investment managers, no holdings exceed any of
the Board’s adopted limits.

Interest Rate Risk - The Board’s adopted Statement of Investment Goals and Objectives (SIGO)
places no limitation on the system’s fixed-income mana